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PART I.  FINANCIAL INFORMATION     
ITEM 1.   FINANCIAL STATEMENTS     
     

ST. MARY LAND & EXPLORATION COMPANY AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS (UNAUDITED)

(In thousands, except share amounts)
     
 June 30,  December 31,  
 2009  2008  

                                                         ASSETS   (As adjusted, Note 7)  
Current assets:     

Cash and cash equivalents $ 10,389 $ 6,131 
Short-term investments  -  1,002 
Accounts receivable, net of allowance for doubtful accounts       

of $16,941 in 2009 and $16,788 in 2008  108,384  157,690 
Refundable income taxes  -  13,161 
Prepaid expenses and other  14,111  22,161 
Accrued derivative asset  67,143  111,649 

Total current assets  200,027  311,794 
       
Property and equipment (successful efforts method), at cost:       

Land  1,371  1,350 
Proved oil and gas properties  2,916,495  2,969,722 
Less - accumulated depletion, depreciation, and amortization  (1,047,505)  (947,207)
Unproved oil and gas properties, net of impairment allowance       

of $51,774 in 2009 and $42,945 in 2008  156,011  168,817 
Wells in progress  38,079  90,910 
Materials inventory, at lower of cost or market  37,565  40,455 
Oil and gas properties held for sale less accumulated depletion,       

depreciation, and amortization  48,410  1,827 
Other property and equipment, net of accumulated depreciation       

of $15,652 in 2009 and $13,848 in 2008  15,274  13,458 
  2,165,700  2,339,332 
       
Other noncurrent assets:       

Accrued derivative asset  10,668  21,541 
Restricted cash subject to Section 1031 Exchange  -  14,398 
Other noncurrent assets  19,344  10,182 

Total other noncurrent assets  30,012  46,121 
       
Total Assets $ 2,395,739 $ 2,697,247 
       

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY     
Current liabilities:       

Accounts payable and accrued expenses $ 207,342 $ 254,811 
Accrued derivative liability  23,583  501 
Deferred income taxes  16,938  41,289 

Total current liabilities  247,863  296,601 
       
Noncurrent liabilities:       

Long-term credit facility  275,000  300,000 
Senior convertible notes, net of unamortized       

discount of $24,763 in 2009, and $28,787 in 2008  262,737  258,713 
Asset retirement obligation  85,882  108,755 
Asset retirement obligation associated with oil and gas properties held for sale  9,336  238 
Net Profits Plan liability  156,524  177,366 
Deferred income taxes  280,144  354,328 
Accrued derivative liability  54,198  27,419 
Other noncurrent liabilities  12,627  11,318 

Total noncurrent liabilities  1,136,448  1,238,137 
       
Commitments and contingencies       
       
Stockholders' equity:       

Common stock, $0.01 par value: authorized  - 200,000,000 shares;       
issued:  62,622,664 shares in 2009 and 62,465,572 shares in 2008;       
outstanding, net of treasury shares: 62,495,771 shares in 2009       
and 62,288,585 shares in 2008  626  625 

Additional paid-in capital  145,972  141,283 
Treasury stock, at cost:  126,893 shares in 2009 and 176,987 shares in 2008  (1,256)  (1,892)
Retained earnings  858,135  957,200 
Accumulated other comprehensive income  7,951  65,293 

Total stockholders' equity  1,011,428  1,162,509 
       
Total Liabilities and Stockholders' Equity $ 2,395,739 $ 2,697,247 

 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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ST. MARY LAND & EXPLORATION COMPANY AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS (UNAUDITED)

(In thousands, except per share amounts)
         
 For the Three Months  For the Six Months  
 Ended June 30,  Ended June 30,  
 2009  2008  2009  2008  

   
(As adjusted, Note

7)    
(As adjusted, Note

7)  
Operating revenues and other income:         

Oil and gas production revenue $ 145,279 $ 399,961 $ 275,696 $ 710,393 
Realized oil and gas hedge gain (loss)  43,279  (68,396)  98,899  (92,346)
Gain on sale of proved properties  1,244  3,038  645  59,055 
Marketed gas system and other operating revenue  15,396  22,339  29,178  41,942 

Total operating revenues and other income  205,198  356,942  404,418  719,044 
             
Operating expenses:             

Oil and gas production expense  49,465  73,625  105,294  133,101 
Depletion, depreciation, amortization,             

and asset retirement obligation liability
accretion  70,391  76,354  162,103  146,708 

Exploration  19,490  17,401  33,088  31,709 
Impairment of proved properties  6,043  9,566  153,092  9,566 
Abandonment and impairment of unproved
properties  11,631  2,056  15,533  3,064 
Impairment of materials inventory  2,719  -  11,335  - 
General and administrative  18,160  21,867  34,559  43,004 
Bad debt expense  -  9,951  -  9,942 
Change in Net Profits Plan liability  2,449  68,142  (20,842)  81,768 
Marketed gas system expense  13,609  20,213  26,992  37,958 
Unrealized derivative (gain) loss  11,288  (1,186)  13,134  5,231 
Other expense  5,814  702  11,456  1,402 

Total operating expenses  211,059  298,691  545,744  503,453 
             
Income (loss) from operations  (5,861)  58,251  (141,326)  215,591 
             

Nonoperating income (expense):             
Interest income  105  59  127  156 
Interest expense  (7,663)  (7,243)  (13,759)  (13,836)

             
Income (loss) before income taxes  (13,419)  51,067  (154,958)  201,911 
Income tax benefit (expense)  5,097  (18,598)  59,013  (74,468)
             
Net income (loss) $ (8,322) $ 32,469 $ (95,945) $ 127,443 
             
Basic weighted-average common shares outstanding  62,418  61,714  62,377  62,287 
             
Diluted weighted-average common shares outstanding  62,418  62,749  62,377  63,404 
             
Basic net income (loss) per common share $ (0.13) $ 0.53 $ (1.54) $ 2.05 
             
Diluted net income (loss) per common share $ (0.13) $ 0.52 $ (1.54) $ 2.01 

 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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ST. MARY LAND & EXPLORATION COMPANY AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY AND COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS) (UNAUDITED)

(In thousands, except share amounts)
                 
             Accumulated    
     Additional       Other  Total  
 Common Stock  Paid-in  Treasury Stock  Retained  Comprehensive Stockholders' 
 Shares  Amount  Capital  Shares  Amount  Earnings  Income (Loss)  Equity  
                 
                 
                 
Balances, December 31, 2007 (As
adjusted, Note 7) 64,010,832 $ 640 $ 211,913 (1,009,712) $ (29,049) $ 876,038 $ (156,968) $ 902,574 
                       
Comprehensive income, net of tax:                       

     Net income (As adjusted, Note
7) -  -  - -  -  87,348  -  87,348 
     Change in derivative instrument
fair value -  -  - -  -  -  177,005  177,005 
     Reclassification to earnings -  -  - -  -  -  46,463  46,463 
     Minimum pension liability
adjustment -  -  - -  -  -  (1,207)  (1,207)

Total comprehensive income                     309,609 
Cash dividends, $ 0.10 per share -  -  - -  -  (6,186)  -  (6,186)
Treasury stock purchases -  -  - (2,135,600)  (77,150)  -  -  (77,150)
Retirement of treasury stock (2,945,212)  (29)  (103,237) 2,945,212  103,266  -  -  - 
Issuance of common stock under Employee                      

     Stock Purchase Plan 45,228  -  1,055 -  -  -  -  1,055 
Issuance of common stock upon settlement of                      
        RSUs following expiration of restriction
period,                      

     net of shares used for tax
withholdings 482,602  5  (6,910) -  -  -  -  (6,905)

Sale of common stock, including
income                       

     tax benefit of stock option
exercises 868,372  9  24,691 -  -  -  -  24,700 

Stock-based compensation expense 3,750  -  13,771 23,113  1,041  -  -  14,812 
                       
Balances, December 31, 2008 (As
adjusted, Note 7) 62,465,572 $ 625 $ 141,283 (176,987) $ (1,892) $ 957,200 $ 65,293 $ 1,162,509 
                       
Comprehensive loss, net of tax:                       

     Net loss -  -  - -  -  (95,945)  -  (95,945)
     Change in derivative instrument
fair value -  -  - -  -  -  (11,852)  (11,852)
     Reclassification to earnings -  -  - -  -  -  (45,494)  (45,494)
     Minimum pension liability
adjustment -  -  - -  -  -  4  4 

Total comprehensive loss                     (153,287)
Cash dividends, $ 0.05 per share -  -  - -  -  (3,120)  -  (3,120)
Issuance of common stock under Employee                      

     Stock Purchase Plan 49,767  -  858 -  -  -  -  858 
Issuance of common stock upon settlement of                      
        RSUs following expiration of restriction
period,                      

     net of shares used for tax
withholdings,                       
     including income tax cost of
RSUs 86,505  1  (3,249) -  -  -  -  (3,248)

Sale of common stock, including
income                       

     tax benefit of stock option
exercises 19,570  -  207 -  -  -  -  207 

Stock-based compensation expense 1,250  -  6,873 50,094  636  -  -  7,509 
                       
Balances, June 30, 2009 62,622,664 $ 626 $ 145,972 (126,893) $ (1,256) $ 858,135 $ 7,951 $ 1,011,428 

 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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ST. MARY LAND & EXPLORATION COMPANY AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS (UNAUDITED)
(In thousands)

     
 For the Six Months  
 Ended June 30,  
 2009  2008  
   (As adjusted, Note 7)  
Cash flows from operating activities:     
Reconciliation of net income (loss) to net cash provided     

by operating activities:     
Net income (loss) $ (95,945) $ 127,443 
Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to net cash       

provided by operating activities:       
Gain on sale of proved properties  (645)  (59,055)
Depletion, depreciation, amortization,       

and asset retirement obligation liability accretion  162,103  146,708 
Exploratory dry hole expense  4,667  6,606 
Impairment of proved properties  153,092  9,566 
Abandonment and impairment of unproved properties  15,533  3,064 
Impairment of materials inventory  11,335  - 
Stock-based compensation expense*  7,509  7,057 
Bad debt expense  -  9,942 
Change in Net Profits Plan liability  (20,842)  81,768 
Unrealized derivative (gain) loss  13,134  5,231 
Loss related to hurricanes  7,120  - 
Amortization of debt discount and deferred financing costs  5,703  4,606 
Deferred income taxes  (63,148)  54,762 
Other  (736)  876 

Changes in current assets and liabilities:       
Accounts receivable  49,149  (71,854)
Refundable income taxes  13,161  (8,921)
Prepaid expenses and other  (7,091)  (6,570)
Accounts payable and accrued expenses  (12,338)  14,850 
Excess income tax benefit from the exercise of stock options  -  (9,565)

Net cash provided by operating activities  241,761  316,514 
       
Cash flows from investing activities:       

Proceeds from sale of oil and gas properties  1,081  154,597 
Capital expenditures  (215,826)  (329,666)
Acquisition of oil and gas properties  (44)  (62,927)
Receipts from restricted cash  14,398  - 
Deposits to restricted cash  -  (25,266)
Deposits to short-term investments  1,002  173 
Other  -  (9,987)

Net cash used in investing activities  (199,389)  (273,076)
       
Cash flows from financing activities:       

Proceeds from credit facility  1,766,000  638,000 
Repayment of credit facility  (1,791,000)  (628,000)
Debt issuance costs related to credit facility  (11,060)  - 
Excess income tax benefit from the exercise of stock options  -  9,565 
Proceeds from sale of common stock  1,066  10,684 
Repurchase of common stock  -  (77,202)
Dividends paid  (3,120)  (3,076)

Net cash used in financing activities  (38,114)  (50,029)
       
Net change in cash and cash equivalents  4,258  (6,591)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period  6,131  43,510 
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period $ 10,389 $ 36,919 
       

* Stock-based compensation expense is a component of exploration expense and general and
 

administrative expense on the consolidated statements of operations. For the six months ended June 30, 2009,  
and 2008, respectively, approximately $2.9 million and $2.2 million of stock-based compensation  
expense was included in exploration expense.  For the six months ended June 30, 2009, and 2008,  
respectively, approximately $4.6 million and $4.9 million of stock-based compensation expense was     
included in general and administrative expense.     

 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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ST. MARY LAND & EXPLORATION COMPANY AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS (UNAUDITED) (Continued)

     
     
     
Supplemental schedule of additional cash flow information and noncash investing and financing activities:
     
 For the Six Months  
 Ended June 30,  
 2009  2008  
 (In thousands)  
     
Cash paid for interest $ 8,837 $ 11,720 
       
Cash paid or (refunded) for income taxes $ (10,441) $ 18,687 
       
       
       
For the period ended June 30, 2008, the Company issued 427,607 restricted stock units  
to employees as equity-based compensation, pursuant to the Company's
Equity Incentive Compensation Plan. The total fair value of this issuance was $23.3 million.
       
As of June 30, 2009, and 2008, $57.9 million, and $140.0 million, respectively, are included as
additions to oil and gas properties and accounts payable and accrued expenses. These oil and gas property
additions are reflected in cash used in investing activities in the periods that the payables are settled.
       
In May 2009 and 2008 the Company issued 50,094 and 23,113 shares, respectively, of commons stock from
treasury to its non-employee directors pursuant to the Company's Equity Incentive Compensation
Plan. The Company recorded compensation expense related to non-employee director shares of approximately
$636,000, and $803,000 for the six-month periods ended June 30, 2009 and 2008, respectively.

 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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ST. MARY LAND & EXPLORATION COMPANY AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(UNAUDITED)
 

June 30, 2009
 
Note 1 – The Company and Business
 

St. Mary Land & Exploration Company (“St. Mary” or the “Company”) is an independent energy company engaged in the exploration, exploitation, development,
acquisition, and production of natural gas and crude oil.  The Company’s operations are conducted entirely in the continental United States and offshore in the Gulf of Mexico.
 
Note 2 – Basis of Presentation and Significant Accounting Policies
 
Basis of Presentation
 

The accompanying unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements of St. Mary have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in
the United States for interim financial information and the instructions to Form 10-Q and Regulation S-X.  They do not include all information and notes required by generally
accepted accounting principles for complete financial statements.  However, except as disclosed herein, there has been no material change in the information disclosed in the notes
to consolidated financial statements included in St. Mary’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2008.  In the opinion of management, all adjustments,
consisting of normal recurring accruals that are considered necessary for fair presentation of the interim financial information, have been included.  Operating results for the
periods presented are not necessarily indicative of expected results for the full year.  In connection with preparation of the condensed consolidated financial statements of St. Mary
and in accordance with the recently issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS”) No. 165 “Subsequent Events” (“SFAS No. 165”), the Company evaluated
subsequent events after the balance sheet date of June 30, 2009, through the filing of this report on August 4, 2009.
 

On January 1, 2009, the Company adopted Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) Staff Position (“FSP”) Accounting Principles Board Opinion (“APB”) 14-1,
“Accounting for Convertible Debt Instruments That May Be Settled in Cash Upon Conversion (Including Partial Cash Settlement)” (“FSP APB 14-1”), which required
retrospective application.  As a result, prior period balances presented have been adjusted to reflect the period-specific effects of applying FSP APB 14-1.  Please refer to Note 7 –
Long-term Debt for additional information regarding adoption.
 
Materials Inventory
 

The Company’s materials inventory is primarily comprised of tubular goods and the Company acquires materials inventory for use in future drilling or repair
operations.  Materials inventory is valued at the lower of cost or market.  Materials inventory totaled $37.6 million and $40.5 million at June 30, 2009, and December 31, 2008,
respectively.  The Company incurred net materials inventory write-downs for the three-month and six-month periods ended June 30, 2009, totaling $2.7 million and $11.3 million,
respectively, as a result of the decrease in the value of tubular goods.  There were no materials inventory write-downs for the three-month and six-month periods ended June
30, 2008.
 
Other Significant Accounting Policies
 

The accounting policies followed by the Company are set forth in Note 1 to the Company’s consolidated financial statements in the Form 10-K for the year ended
December 31, 2008, and are supplemented throughout the footnotes of this document.  It is suggested that these consolidated financial
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statements be read in conjunction with the consolidated financial statements and notes included in St. Mary’s Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2008.
 
Note 3 – Recent Accounting Pronouncements
 

The Company adopted SFAS No. 141(R), “Business Combinations” (“SFAS No. 141(R)”) on January 1, 2009, which requires the acquiring entity in a business
combination to recognize and measure all assets and liabilities assumed in the transaction and any non-controlling interest in the acquiree at fair value as of the acquisition
date.  SFAS No. 141(R) changes the way the Company accounts for acquisitions of oil and gas properties.  Such acquisitions will now be treated as business combinations, which
will require transaction costs to be expensed as incurred, may generate gains or losses due to changes between the effective and closing dates of acquisitions, and require possible
recognition of goodwill given differences between the purchase price and fair value of assets received.  The impact of SFAS No. 141(R) on the Company’s consolidated financial
statements will largely be dependent on the size and nature of the business combinations completed.  There have not been any significant acquisitions of oil and gas properties
since adoption.
 

The Company adopted FSP SFAS No. 141(R)-1, “Accounting for Assets Acquired and Liabilities Assumed in a Business Combination That Arise from Contingencies”
(“FSP 141(R)-1”) on January 1, 2009, which amends the guidance in SFAS No. 141(R) relating to the initial recognition and measurement, subsequent measurement and
accounting, and disclosures of assets and liabilities arising from contingencies in a business combination.  The impact of FSP 141(R)-1 on the Company’s consolidated financial
statements will largely be dependent on the size and nature of the business combinations completed.  There have not been any significant acquisitions of oil and gas properties
since adoption.
 

The Company adopted SFAS No. 160, “Noncontrolling Interests in Consolidated Financial Statements – an amendment to ARB No. 51” on January 1, 2009, which
established accounting and reporting standards that require noncontrolling interests to be reported as a component of equity along with any changes in the parent’s ownership
interest.  The adoption of this pronouncement did not have a material impact on the Company’s consolidated financial statements.
 

On April 1, 2009, the Company adopted FSP SFAS 107-1 and APB No. 28-1, “Interim Disclosures about Fair Value of Financial Instruments” (“FSP 107-1”).  FSP 107-
1 amends SFAS No. 107, “Disclosures about Fair Value of Financial Instruments,” and APB No. 28, “Interim Financial Reporting,” which requires an entity to provide disclosures
about fair value of financial instruments in interim financial information.  FSP 107-1 requires the Company to include disclosures about the fair value of its financial instruments
whenever it issues financial information for interim reporting periods and annual reporting periods, whether recognized or not recognized in the statement of financial
position.  The adoption of this pronouncement did not have any material impact on the Company’s consolidated financial statements.
 

The Company adopted SFAS No. 165 on April 1, 2009, which established general standards of accounting for and disclosures of events that occur after the balance sheet
date but before financial statements are issued or are available to be issued.  SFAS No. 165 requires companies to disclose the date through which the company evaluated
subsequent events, the basis for that date, and whether that date represents the date the financial statements were issued.  The adoption of this pronouncement did not have a
material impact on the Company’s consolidated financial statements.
 

In December 2008 the Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) published the final rules and interpretations updating its oil and gas reporting requirements.  Many
of the revisions are updates to definitions in the existing oil and gas rules to make them consistent with the Petroleum Resource Management System, which is a widely accepted
standard for the management of petroleum resources developed by several industry organizations.  Key revisions include a requirement to use 12-month average pricing rather
than year-end pricing for estimating proved reserves, the ability to include nontraditional resources in reserves, the ability to use new technology for determining proved reserves,
and permitting disclosure of probable and possible reserves.  The SEC will require companies to comply with the amended
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disclosure requirements for registration statements filed after January 1, 2010, and for annual reports for fiscal years ending on or after December 15, 2009.  Early adoption is not
permitted.  The SEC is working with the FASB to facilitate corresponding accounting standard revisions, which may affect the adoption date.  The Company is currently assessing
the impact that the adoption will have on the Company’s consolidated financial statements and disclosures.
 

In December 2008 the FASB issued FSP SFAS No. 132(R)-1, “Employers’ Disclosures about Postretirement Benefit Plan Assets” (“FSP 132(R)-1”).  FSP 132(R)-1
amends the disclosure requirements of plan assets for defined benefit pensions and other postretirement plans.  The objective of FSP 132(R)-1 is to provide users of financial
statements with an understanding of how investment allocation decisions are made, the major categories of plan assets held by the plans, the inputs and valuation techniques used
to measure the fair value of plan assets, significant concentration of risk within a company’s plan assets, fair value measurements determined using significant unobservable inputs,
and a reconciliation of changes between the beginning and ending balances.  FSP 132(R)-1 will be effective for fiscal years ending after December 15, 2009.  The Company will
adopt the new disclosure requirements in Form 10-K for the fiscal year ending December 31, 2009.  The Company is currently assessing the impact that the adoption will have on
the Company’s consolidated financial statements and disclosures.
 

In June 2009 the FASB issued SFAS No. 168, “The FASB Accounting Standards Codification and the Hierarchy of Generally Accepted Accounting Principles, a
replacement of FASB Statement No. 162” (“SFAS No. 168”).  SFAS No. 168 establishes the FASB Accounting Standards Codification as the source of authoritative U.S.
generally accepted accounting principles (“GAAP”) recognized by the FASB to be applied to rules and interpretive releases of the SEC under federal securities laws as
authoritative GAAP for SEC registrants.  SFAS No. 168 is effective for interim and annual periods ending on or after September 15, 2009.  The adoption of this pronouncement is
not anticipated to have a material impact on the Company’s consolidated financial statements.
 

Please refer to Note 7 – Long-term Debt, Note 8 – Derivative Financial Instruments, and Note 11 – Fair Value Measurements for additional information on recently
adopted accounting standards.
 
Note 4 – Earnings per Share
 

Basic net income per common share of stock is calculated by dividing net income available to common stockholders by the weighted-average basic common shares
outstanding for the respective period.  The shares represented by vested restricted stock units (“RSUs”) are included in the calculation of the weighted-average basic common
shares outstanding.  The earnings per share calculations reflect the impact of any repurchases of shares of common stock made by the Company.
 

Diluted net income per common share of stock is calculated by dividing adjusted net income by the weighted-average diluted common shares outstanding, which includes
the effect of potentially dilutive securities.  Potentially dilutive securities for the diluted earnings per share calculations consist of unvested RSUs, in-the-money outstanding options
to purchase the Company’s common stock, Performance Share Awards (“PSAs”), and shares into which the 3.50% Senior Convertible Notes due 2027 (the “3.50% Senior
Convertible Notes”) are convertible.
 

The Company’s 3.50% Senior Convertible Notes, which were issued April 4, 2007, have a net-share settlement right whereby each $1,000 principal amount of notes may
be surrendered for conversion to cash in an amount equal to the principal amount and, if applicable, shares of common stock for the amount in excess of the principal amount.  The
treasury stock method is used to measure the potentially dilutive impact of shares associated with that conversion feature.  The 3.50% Senior Convertible Notes have not been
dilutive for any reporting period that they have been outstanding and therefore do not impact the diluted earnings per share calculation for the three-month or six-month periods
ended June 30, 2009, and 2008.
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The Company’s PSAs have a three-year performance period.  The PSAs represent the right to receive, upon settlement of the PSAs after the completion of the three-year

performance period, a number of shares of the Company’s common stock that may be from zero to two times the number of PSAs granted on the award date, depending on the
extent to which the Company’s performance criteria have been achieved and the extent to which the PSAs have vested.  The performance criteria for the PSAs are based on a
combination of the Company’s total shareholder return (“TSR”) for the performance period and the relative measure of the Company’s TSR compared with the TSR of certain peer
companies for the performance period.  There were no potentially dilutive shares related to the PSAs included in the diluted earnings per share calculation for the three-month or
six-month periods ended June 30, 2009, and 2008.  For additional discussion on PSAs, please see Note 5 – Compensation Plans under the heading Performance Share Awards
Under the Equity Incentive Compensation Plan.
 

The treasury stock method is used to measure the dilutive impact of stock options, RSUs, 3.50% Senior Convertible Notes, and PSAs.  In accordance with SFAS No. 128,
“Earnings Per Share”, when there is a loss from continuing operations, all potentially dilutive shares will be anti-dilutive.  As such, there were no dilutive shares for the three-
month or six-month periods ended June 30, 2009.  The unvested RSUs and in-the-money options had a dilutive impact for the three-month and six-month periods ended June 30,
2008, as calculated in the table below.
 

The following table sets forth the calculation of basic and diluted earnings per share:
 

 
For the Three Months

Ended June 30,  
For the Six Months

Ended June 30,  

 2009  

2008
(As adjusted,

Note 7)  2009  

2008
(As adjusted,

Note 7)  
 (In thousands, except per share amounts)  
         
Net income (loss) $ (8,322) $ 32,469 $ (95,945) $ 127,443 
             
Basic weighted-average common stock outstanding  62,418  61,714  62,377  62,287 

Add: dilutive effect of stock options, unvested RSUs, and
PSAs  -  1,035  -  1,117 

Add: dilutive effect of 3.50% senior convertible notes  -  -  -  - 
Diluted weighted-average common shares outstanding  62,418  62,749  62,377  63,404 
             
Basic net income (loss) per common share $ (0.13) $ 0.53 $ (1.54) $ 2.05 
Diluted net income (loss) per common share $ (0.13) $ 0.52 $ (1.54) $ 2.01 
 
Note 5 – Compensation Plans
 
Cash Bonus Plan
 

The Company paid $6.0 million for cash bonuses earned in the 2008 performance year and $3.5 million for cash bonuses earned in the 2007 performance year during the
first quarter of 2009 and 2008, respectively.  Included in the general and administrative expense and exploration expense line items in the accompanying consolidated statements of
operations was $2.9 million and $2.7 million of cash bonus expense related to the specific performance year for the three-month periods ended June 30, 2009, and 2008,
respectively, and $5.3 million and $4.5 million for the six-month periods ended June 30, 2009, and 2008, respectively.
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Performance Share Awards Under the Equity Incentive Compensation Plan
 

Total stock-based compensation expense related to PSAs for the three-month and six-month periods ended June 30, 2009, was $1.1 million and $2.5 million,
respectively.  There was no stock-based compensation expense related to PSAs for the three-month or six-month periods ended June 30, 2008.
 

A summary of the status and activity of PSAs for the six-month period ended June 30, 2009, is presented in the following table.
 

 PSAs  
Weighted-Average

Grant-Date Fair Value  
Non-vested, at January 1, 2009 464,333 $ 26.48 

Granted - $ - 
Vested - $ - 
Forfeited (22,547) $ 26.48 

Non-vested, at June 30, 2009 441,786 $ 26.48 
 

Subsequent to June 30, 2009, the Company granted PSAs.  A total of 725,092 PSAs were granted on August 1, 2009.  The PSAs represent the right to receive, upon
settlement of the PSAs after the completion of the three-year performance period ending June 30, 2012.  The PSAs will vest 1/7th on August 1, 2010, 2/7ths on August 1, 2011, and
4/7ths on August 1, 2012.
 
Restricted Stock Incentive Program Under the Equity Incentive Compensation Plan
 

The total RSU compensation expense for the three-month periods ended June 30, 2009, and 2008, was $1.7 million and $3.0 million, respectively, and $3.8 million and
$6.0 million for the six-month periods ended June 30, 2009, and 2008, respectively.  As of June 30, 2009, there was $8.5 million of total unrecognized compensation expense
related to unvested RSU awards.  The unrecognized compensation expense is being amortized through 2011.
 

During the first half of 2009, the Company converted 125,284 RSUs, which relate to those awards granted in 2008, 2007, and 2006, into common stock based on the
terms or amended terms of the RSU awards.  The Company and the majority of the grant participants mutually agreed to net share settle the awards to cover income and payroll tax
withholdings as provided for in the plan document and the award agreements.  As a result, the Company issued 87,755 shares of common stock associated with these grants.  The
remaining 37,529 shares were withheld to satisfy income and payroll tax withholding obligations that occurred upon the delivery of the shares underlying those RSUs.
 

A summary of the status and activity of non-vested RSUs for the six-month period ended June 30, 2009, is presented in the following table.
 

 RSUs  
Weighted-Average

Grant-Date Fair Value  
Non-vested, at January 1, 2009 402,297 $ 48.24 

Granted - $ - 
Vested (119,426) $ 34.99 
Forfeited (16,686) $ 53.92 

Non-vested, at June 30, 2009 266,185 $ 53.82 
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As of June 30, 2009, a total of 267,418 RSUs were outstanding, of which 1,233 were vested.

 
Subsequent to June 30, 2009, the Company granted RSUs.  A total of 241,745 RSUs were granted on August 1, 2009.  Each RSU represents a right to receive one share

of the Company’s common stock to be delivered upon settlement of the vested RSUs.  The RSUs will vest 1/7th on August 1, 2010, 2/7ths on August 1, 2011, and 4/7ths on
August 1, 2012.

 
Stock Option Grants Under the Equity Incentive Compensation Plan
 

The following table summarizes the six-month activity for stock options outstanding as of June 30, 2009:
 

 Options  

Weighted-
Average
Exercise

Price  

Weighted
Average

Remaining
Contractual

Term
(In years)  

Aggregate
Intrinsic Value
(In thousands)  

         
Outstanding, beginning of period 1,509,710 $ 12.69     

Exercised (19,570) $ 10.56     
Forfeited (45,050) $ 13.38     

Outstanding, end of period 1,445,090 $ 12.70 3.21 $ 11,803 
Vested, or expect to vest, end of period 1,445,090 $ 12.70 3.21 $ 11,803 
Exercisable, end of period 1,445,090 $ 12.70 3.21 $ 11,803 
 

As of June 30, 2009, there was no unrecognized compensation cost related to unvested stock option awards.
 
Director Shares
 

In May 2009 and 2008 the Company issued 50,094 and 23,113 shares, respectively, of the Company’s common stock from treasury to the Company’s non-employee
directors.  The shares were issued pursuant to the Company’s Equity Incentive Compensation Plan.  The Company recorded $517,000 and $673,000 of compensation expense for
the three-month periods ended June 30, 2009, and 2008, and $636,000 and $803,000 for the six-month periods ended June 30, 2009, and 2008, respectively.
 
Employee Stock Purchase Plan
 

Under the St. Mary Land & Exploration Company Employee Stock Purchase Plan (the “ESPP”), eligible employees may purchase shares of the Company’s common
stock through payroll deductions of up to 15 percent of eligible compensation.  The purchase price of the stock is 85 percent of the lower of the fair market value of the stock on the
first or last day of the purchase period, and shares issued under the ESPP are restricted for a period of 18 months from the date issued.  The ESPP is intended to qualify under
Section 423 of the Internal Revenue Code.  The Company has set aside 2,000,000 shares of its common stock to be available for issuance under the ESPP, of which
1,504,816 shares are available for issuance as of June 30, 2009.  The fair value of ESPP grants is measured at the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option-pricing
model.  There were 49,767 and 17,626 shares issued under the ESPP during the first half of 2009 and 2008, respectively.  The Company expensed $390,000 and $90,000 for the
three-month periods  ended June 30, 2009, and 2008, respectively and $541,000 and $165,000 for the six-month periods ended June 30, 2009, and 2008, respectively based on the
estimated fair value on the respective grant date.
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Net Profits Plan
 

Cash payments made under the Net Profits Interest Bonus Plan (“Net Profits Plan”) that have been recorded as either general and administrative expense or exploration
expense are detailed in the table below:
 

 
For the Three Months

Ended June 30,  
For the Six Months

Ended June 30,  
 2009  2008  2009   2008  
 (In thousands)  
          
General and administrative expense $ 4,541 $ 9,332 $ 7,774  $ 17,865 
Exploration expense  471  3,038  877   5,217 
Total $ 5,012 $ 12,370 $ 8,651  $ 23,082 
 

Additionally, the Company made cash payments under the Net Profits Plan of $1.6 million and $12.4 million for the three-month and six-month periods ended
June 30, 2008, respectively, as a result of sales proceeds from the Abraxas and Greater Green River Basin divestitures that closed during the first half of 2008.  The cash payments
are accounted for as a reduction in the gain on sale of proved properties in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations.  There were no cash payments made under the
Net Profits Plan as a result of divestitures during the first half of 2009.
 

The Company records changes in the present value of estimated future payments under the Net Profits Plan as a separate line item in the accompanying unaudited
consolidated statements of operations.  The change in the estimated liability is recorded as a non-cash expense or benefit in the current period.  The amount recorded as an expense
or benefit associated with the change in the estimated liability is not allocated to general and administrative expense or exploration expense because it is associated with the future
net cash flows from oil and gas properties in the respective pools rather than results being realized through current period production.  The table below presents the estimated
allocation of the change in the liability if the Company did allocate the adjustment to these specific functional line items based on the current allocation of actual distributions made
by the Company.  Of the changes recorded under the Net Profits Plan, nine percent and 25 percent would have been classified as exploration expense in the accompanying
unaudited consolidated statements of operations for the three-month periods ended June 30, 2009, and 2008, respectively, and 10 percent and 23 percent would have been classified
as exploration expense in the accompanying unaudited consolidated statements of operations for the six-month periods ended June 30, 2009, and 2008, respectively.  As time
progresses, less of the distributions relate to prospective exploration efforts as more of the distributions are made to employees that have terminated employment and do not provide
ongoing exploration support.
 

 
For the Three Months

Ended June 30,  
For the Six Months

Ended June 30,  
 2009  2008  2009  2008  
 (In thousands)  
         
General and administrative
           expense (benefit) $ 2,218 $ 51,406 $ (18,730) $ 63,288 
Exploration expense (benefit)  231  16,736  (2,112)  18,480 
Total $ 2,449 $ 68,142 $ (20,842) $ 81,768 
 
Note 6 – Income Taxes
 

Income tax expense (benefit) for the six-month periods ended June 30, 2009, and 2008, differs from the amount that would be provided by applying the statutory U.S.
federal income tax rate to income before
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income taxes as a result of the estimated effect of the domestic production activities deduction, percentage depletion, the effect of state income taxes, and other permanent
differences.
 

 
For the Three Months

Ended June 30,  
For the Six Months

Ended June 30,  
 2009  2008  2009  2008  
 (In thousands)  
Current portion of income tax expense:         
Federal $ 2,166 $ 12,859 $ 3,249 $ 18,740 
State  495  466  886  966 
Deferred portion of income tax expense (benefit):  (7,758)  5,273  (63,148)  54,762 
Total income tax expense (benefit) $ (5,097) $ 18,598 $ (59,013) $ 74,468 
Effective tax rates  38.0%  36.4%  38.1%  36.9% 
 

A change in the Company’s effective tax rates between reported periods will generally reflect differences in its estimated highest marginal state tax rate due to changes in
the composition of income between state tax jurisdictions resulting from Company activities.  Currently low commodity prices and uncertain future pricing are causing the rate to
vary from period to period as estimates for the domestic production activities deduction, percentage depletion, and the impact of potential permanent state differences have
impacted the periods presented differently.
 

The Company or its subsidiaries file income tax returns in the U.S. federal jurisdiction and in various states.  With few exceptions, the Company is no longer subject to
U.S. federal or state income tax examinations by tax authorities for years before 2004.  The Internal Revenue Service completed its 2005 audit in March 2009 with a refund due to
the Company of $278,000 plus interest of $41,000.  These amounts were received and related amended State income tax returns were filed in the second quarter of 2009.  There
was no change to the provision for income tax expense as a result of the examination.  The Company received $980,000 in the first quarter of 2008 for income tax refunds and
accrued interest resulting from a carry-over of minimum tax credits to its 2003 tax year.
 

During the second half of 2009, the U.S. Congress will give consideration to a 2010 budget.  Current proposals to fund proposed programs the Administration include
eliminating or reducing current deductions for intangible drilling costs, the manufacturer’s deduction, and percentage depletion.  Legislation eliminating these deductions would
increase the Company’s current income tax expense, increase the Company’s effective tax rate and reduce operating cash flows thereby reducing funding available for St. Mary’s
exploration and development capital programs.  These funding reductions would also impact the Company’s peers in the industry and could potentially have a significant adverse
effect on drilling in the United States for a number of years.
 
Note 7 – Long-term Debt
 
Revolving Credit Facility
 

The Company executed a Third Amended and Restated Credit Agreement on April 14, 2009.  This amended revolving credit facility replaced the previous facility.  The
Company incurred $11.1 million of deferred financing costs in association with the amended credit facility.  Borrowings under the facility are secured by a pledge, in favor of the
lenders, of collateral that includes the majority of the Company’s oil and gas properties.  The credit facility specifies a maximum loan amount of $1.0 billion and has a maturity
date of July 31, 2012.  The authorized borrowing base under the credit facility as of the date of this filing is $900 million and is subject to regular semi-annual
redeterminations.  The borrowing base redetermination process considers the value of St. Mary’s oil and gas properties and other assets, as determined by the bank syndicate.  The
Company has an aggregate commitment amount of $678 million under the credit facility.  
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The Company must comply with certain financial and non-financial covenants under the terms of its credit facility agreement, including the limitation of the Company’s annual
dividend rate to no more than $0.25 per share.  The Company is in compliance with all financial and non-financial covenants under the credit facility as of June 30, 2009, and
through the date of this filing.  Interest and commitment fees are accrued based on the borrowing base utilization grid below.  Eurodollar loans accrue interest at the London
Interbank Offered Rate (“LIBOR”) plus the applicable margin from the utilization table, and Alternative Base Rate (“ABR”) and swingline loans accrue interest at Prime plus the
applicable margin from the utilization table.  Commitment fees are accrued on the unused portion of the aggregate commitment amount and are included in interest expense in the
accompanying consolidated statements of operations.
 

Borrowing Base Utilization Grid
Borrowing Base Utilization Percentage <25% >25% <50% >50% <75% >75%
Eurodollar Loans  2.000%  2.250%  2.500%  2.750%
ABR Loans or Swingline Loans  1.000%  1.250%  1.500%  1.750%
Commitment Fee Rate  0.500%  0.500%  0.500%  0.500%
 

The Company had $275.0 million and $255.0 million outstanding under its revolving credit agreement as of June 30, 2009, and July 28, 2009, respectively.  The
Company had $401.7 million and $421.7 million of available borrowing capacity under this facility as of June 30, 2009, and July 28, 2009, respectively.  The Company has a
single letter of credit outstanding in the amount of $1.3 million as of June 30, 2009, and through the date of this filing.  This letter of credit reduces the amount available under the
commitment amount on a dollar-for-dollar basis.
 
Adoption of FSP APB 14-1
 

On January 1, 2009, the Company adopted FSP APB 14-1.  FSP APB 14-1 requires issuers of convertible debt that may be settled fully or partially in cash upon
conversion to account separately for the liability and equity components of the debt in a manner that reflects the entity’s nonconvertible debt borrowing rate when interest cost is
recognized in subsequent periods.  FSP APB 14-1 applies to the Company’s 3.50% Senior Convertible Notes.  Upon adopting the provisions of FSP APB 14-1 the Company
retrospectively applied its provisions and restated the Company’s consolidated financial statements for prior periods.
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In applying FSP APB 14-1, $42 million of the carrying value of the 3.50% Senior Convertible Notes was recorded as additional paid-in capital as of the April 4, 2007,
issuance date.  This amount represents the equity component of the proceeds from the 3.50% Senior Convertible Notes, calculated assuming a 7.0% discount rate, which would
have been the Company’s borrowing rate for a similar debt instrument without the conversion feature at the date of the issuance of the 3.50% Senior Convertible Notes.  Upon
retrospective application, the adoption resulted in a $6.8 million decrease in the Company’s retained earnings at December 31, 2008, comprised of non-cash interest expense of
$10.8 million, net of capitalized interest of $2.2 million, less deferred taxes of $4.0 million, for the period of April 4, 2007, through December 31, 2008.  The following table
presents the December 31, 2008, consolidated balance sheet line items affected as adjusted and as originally reported:
 
 December 31, 2008  

 As Adjusted  
As Originally

Reported  
 (In thousands)  
Proved oil and gas properties $ 2,969,722 $ 2,967,491 
3.50% Senior Convertible Notes  258,713  287,500 
Deferred income taxes  354,328  358,334 
Additional paid-in capital  141,283  99,440 
Retained earnings  957,200  964,019 
 

As of June 30, 2009, and December 31, 2008, the carrying value of the equity component was $42 million.  The principal amount of the 3.50% Senior Convertible Notes,
the unamortized debt discount, and the net carrying amounts were as follows:
 

 
As of

June 30, 2009  

As of
December 31, 2008

(Adjusted)  
 (In thousands)  
     
3.50% Senior Convertible Notes $ 287,500 $ 287,500 
Unamortized debt discount  (24,763)  (28,787)
Net carrying amount of the 3.50% Senior Convertible Notes $ 262,737 $ 258,713 
 

The remaining unamortized debt discount will be recognized under the interest method over the next 33 months.
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The consolidated statements of operations were retroactively modified compared to previously reported amounts as follows:
 

 
For the Three Months
Ended June 30, 2008  

For the Six Months
Ended June 30, 2008  

 As Adjusted  
As Originally

Reported  As Adjusted  
As Originally

Reported  
 (In thousands except per share amounts)  
         
Interest expense $ 7,243 $ 5,528 $ 13,836 $ 10,499 
Income tax expense  18,598  19,232  74,468  75,702 
Net income  32,469  33,550  127,443  129,546 
Basic net income per common share $ 0.53 $ 0.54 $ 2.05 $ 2.08 
Diluted net income per common share $ 0.52 $ 0.53 $ 2.01 $ 2.04 
 

The Company recognized $2.0 million and $1.9 million of non-cash interest expense relating to the debt discount for the three months ended June 30, 2009, and 2008,
respectively, and $4.0 million and $3.8 million for the six months ended June 30, 2009, and 2008, respectively.  Accumulated amortization related to the debt discount was $17.1
million as of June 30, 2009.
 
Note 8 – Derivative Financial Instruments
 
Adoption of SFAS No. 161
 

On January 1, 2009, the Company adopted SFAS No. 161, “Disclosures about Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities - an amendment of FASB Statement
No. 133” (“SFAS No. 161”).  SFAS No. 161 requires entities to provide greater transparency about how and why an entity uses derivative instruments, how derivative instruments
and related hedged items are accounted for under SFAS No. 133, “Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities” (“SFAS No. 133”) and how derivative
instruments and related hedged items affect an entity’s financial position, results of operations, and cash flows.
 
Oil and Natural Gas Commodity Hedges
 

To mitigate a portion of the potential exposure to adverse market changes in oil and gas prices, the Company has entered into various derivative contracts.  The
Company’s derivative contracts in place include swap and collar arrangements for oil, natural gas, and natural gas liquids (“NGL”).  As of June 30, 2009, the Company has hedge
contracts in place through mid-2012 for a total of approximately 7 million Bbls of anticipated crude oil production, 52 million MMBtu of anticipated natural gas production, and
447,000 Bbls of anticipated natural gas liquids production.
 

The Company attempts to qualify its oil and gas derivative instruments as cash flow hedges for accounting purposes under SFAS No. 133 and related
pronouncements.  The Company formally documents all relationships between the derivative instruments and the hedged production, as well as the Company’s risk management
objective and strategy for the particular derivative contracts.  This process includes linking all derivatives that are designated as cash flow hedges to the specific forecasted sale of
oil or gas at its physical location.  The Company also formally assesses (both at the derivative’s inception and on an ongoing basis) whether the derivatives being utilized have
been highly effective in offsetting changes in the cash flows of hedged production and whether those derivatives may be expected to remain highly effective in future periods.  If it
is determined that a derivative has ceased to be highly effective as a hedge, the Company will discontinue hedge accounting for that derivative prospectively.  If hedge accounting
is discontinued and the derivative remains outstanding, the Company will recognize all subsequent changes in
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its fair value in the Company’s consolidated statements of operations for the period in which the change occurs.  As of June 30, 2009, all oil and natural gas derivative instruments
qualified as cash flow hedges for accounting purposes.  The Company anticipates that all forecasted transactions will occur by the end of their originally specified periods.  All
contracts are entered into for other than trading purposes.
 

The Company’s oil and gas hedges are measured at fair value and are included in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets as accrued derivative assets and
liabilities.  The Company derives internal valuation estimates taking into consideration the counterparties’ credit worthiness, the Company’s credit worthiness, and the time value
of money.  Those internal evaluations are then compared to the counterparties’ mark-to-market statements.  The consideration of the factors results in an estimated exit-price for
each derivative asset or liability under a market place participant’s view.  Management believes that this approach provides a reasonable, non-biased, verifiable, and consistent
methodology for valuing derivative instruments.  The derivative instruments utilized by the Company are not considered by management to be complex, structured, or
illiquid.  The oil and gas derivative markets are highly active.  The fair value of oil and natural gas derivative contracts designated and qualifying as cash flow hedges under SFAS
No. 133 was a net asset of $30,000 and $105.3 million at June 30, 2009, and December 31, 2008, respectively.
 

The following table details the fair value of derivatives recorded in the consolidated balance sheets, by category:
 

 Location on Consolidated Balance Sheets  
Fair Value

at June 30, 2009  

Fair Value at
December 31,

2008  
Derivative assets designated as cash flow hedges:   (In thousands)  
Oil, natural gas, and NGL commodity Current assets  $ 67,143 $ 111,649 
Oil, natural gas, and NGL commodity Other noncurrent assets   10,668  21,541 
Total derivative assets designated as cash flow hedges

under SFAS No. 133   $ 77,811 $ 133,190 
         
Derivative liabilities designated as cash flow hedges:         
Oil, natural gas, and NGL commodity Current liabilities  $ (23,583) $ (501)
Oil, natural gas, and NGL commodity Noncurrent liabilities   (54,198)  (27,419)
Total derivative liabilities designated as cash flow hedges

under SFAS No. 133   $ (77,781) $ (27,920)
 

The Company realized a net gain of $43.3 million and a net loss of $68.4 million from its oil and natural gas derivative contracts for the three months ended
June 30, 2009, and 2008, respectively and realized a net gain of $98.9 million and a net loss of $92.3 million from its oil and natural gas derivative contracts for the six months
ended June 30, 2009, and 2008, respectively.
 

After-tax changes in the fair value of derivative instruments designated as cash flow hedges, to the extent they are effective in offsetting cash flows attributed to the
hedged risk, are recorded in accumulated other comprehensive income in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets until the hedged item is recognized in earnings upon the
sale of the hedged production.  As of June 30, 2009, the amount of unrealized gain net of deferred income taxes to be reclassified from accumulated other comprehensive income
to realized oil and gas hedge gain (loss) in the Company’s accompanying statement of operations  in the next twelve months is $30.6 million.
 

Any change in fair value resulting from ineffectiveness is recognized currently in unrealized derivative loss in the accompanying consolidated statements of
operations.  Unrealized derivative loss for the three months ended June 30, 2009, and 2008, includes a net loss of $11.3 million and a net gain of
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$1.2 million, respectively, from ineffectiveness related to oil and natural gas derivative contracts.  Unrealized derivative loss for the six months ended June 30, 2009, and 2008,
includes net losses of $13.1 million and $5.2 million, respectively, from ineffectiveness related to oil and natural gas derivative contracts.
 

Realized gains or losses from the settlement of oil and gas derivative contracts are reported in the operating revenues and other income section of the accompanying
consolidated statements of operations.
 

The Company seeks to minimize ineffectiveness by entering into oil derivative contracts indexed to the New York Mercantile Exchange West Texas Intermediate
(“NYMEX WTI”) and natural gas derivative contracts indexed to regional index prices associated with pipelines in proximity to the Company’s areas of production.  As the
Company’s derivative contracts contain the same index as the Company’s sales contracts, this results in derivative contracts that are highly correlated with the underlying hedged
item.
 

The following table details the effect of derivative instruments on other comprehensive income and the consolidated balance sheets (net of tax):
 

 
Derivatives Qualifying as

Cash Flow Hedges  

Location of (Gain) Loss
Reclassified from AOCI to Income

(Effective Portion)  
For the Six Months

Ended June 30,  
     2009  2008  
     (In thousands)  
Amount of (Gain) Loss on Derivatives

Recognized in OCI (Effective
Portion) Commodity hedges  

Realized oil and gas hedge gain
(loss)  $ (11,852) $ (451,893)

Amount of (Gain) Loss Reclassified from
AOCI to Income (Effective Portion) Commodity hedges  

Realized oil and gas hedge gain
(loss)  $ (45,494) $ 58,698 

 
The following table details the effect of derivative instruments on the consolidated statements of operations:

 
Derivatives Qualifying as Cash
Flow Hedges  

Classification of (Gain) Loss
Recognized in Earnings  

(Gain) Loss Recognized in Earnings
 (Ineffective Portion)  

    
For the Three Months

Ended June 30,  
For the Six Months

Ended June 30,  
    2009  2008  2009  2008  
    (In thousands)  

Commodity hedges  Unrealized derivative (gain) loss  $ 11,288 $ (1,186) $ 13,134 $ 5,231 
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Credit Related Contingent Features
 

As of June 30, 2009, only two of the Company’s hedge counterparties were not members of the Company’s credit facility bank syndicate.  Member banks are secured by
the Company’s oil and gas assets, and so do not require the Company to post collateral in hedge liability instances.  When the Company is in a liability position with a non-
member bank, posting of collateral may be required if the Company’s liability balance exceeds the limit set forth in the agreement with the non-member bank.  With one of the
non-member banks, the Company is subject to financial ratio tests, and the liability balance above which the Company is required to post collateral varies from one dollar to an
unlimited amount.  With the other non-member bank, the Company is required to post collateral if the liability balance exceeds $5.0 million.  The Company had $3.6 million and
$4.9 million of collateral posted with non-member banks as of June 30, 2009, and July 28, 2009, respectively.
 
Convertible Note Derivative Instruments
 

The contingent interest provision of the 3.50% Senior Convertible Notes is a derivative instrument.  As of June 30, 2009, and December 31, 2008, the value of this
derivative was determined to be immaterial.
 
Note 9 – Pension Benefits
 

The Company has a non-contributory pension plan covering substantially all employees who meet age and service requirements (the “Qualified Pension Plan”).  The
Company also has a supplemental non-contributory pension plan covering certain management employees (the “Nonqualified Pension Plan”).
 
Components of Net Periodic Benefit Cost for Both Plans
 

The following table presents the components of the net periodic cost for both the Qualified Pension Plan and the Nonqualified Pension Plan:
 

 
For the Three Months

Ended June 30,  
For the Six Months

Ended June 30,  
 2009  2008  2009  2008  
 (In thousands)  
Service cost $ 625 $ 460 $ 1,250 $ 920 
Interest cost  233  222  467  443 
Expected return on plan assets  (107)  (168)  (215)  (335)
Amortization of net actuarial loss  93  40  186  80 
Net Periodic benefit cost $ 844 $ 554 $ 1,688 $ 1,108 
 

Prior service costs are amortized on a straight-line basis over the average remaining service period of active participants.  Gains and losses in excess of ten percent of the
greater of the benefit obligation or the market-related value of assets are amortized over the average remaining service period of active participants.
 
Contributions
 

Under the Pension Protection Act of 2006 St. Mary is required to contribute at least $380,000 to the Pension Plans in 2009.  However, the Company plans to contribute
$1.9 million during 2009 based upon the preliminary funding results analysis completed in April 2009 to maintain an adequate funding level to provide retirement benefits to
current and future plan participants and maintain an adequate funding level to provide lump sum payments if elected by a participant.
 

-21-
 

 
 



 

Note 10 – Asset Retirement Obligations
 

The Company recognizes an estimated liability for future costs associated with the plugging and abandonment of its oil and gas properties.  A liability for the fair value of
an asset retirement obligation and a corresponding increase to the carrying value of the related long-lived asset are recorded at the time a well is completed or acquired.  The
increase in carrying value is included in proved oil and gas properties in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets.  The Company depletes the amount added to proved oil and
gas property costs and recognizes expense in connection with the accretion of the discounted liability over the remaining estimated economic lives of the respective oil and gas
properties.  Cash paid to settle asset retirement obligations is included in the operating section of the Company’s accompanying consolidated statements of cash flows.
 

The Company’s estimated asset retirement obligation liability is based on estimated economic lives, historical experience in plugging and abandoning wells, estimated
cost to plug and abandon the wells in the future, and federal and state regulatory requirements.  The liability is discounted using a credit-adjusted risk-free rate estimated at the time
the liability is incurred or revised.  The credit-adjusted risk-free rates used to discount the Company’s abandonment liabilities range from 6.5 percent to 12.0 percent.  Revisions to
the liability could occur due to changes in estimated abandonment costs or well economic lives, or if federal or state regulators enact new requirements regarding the abandonment
of wells.
 

A reconciliation of the Company’s asset retirement obligation liability is as follows:
 

 
For the Three Months

Ended June 30,  
For the Six Months

Ended June 30,  
 2009  2008  2009   2008  
 (In thousands)  
          
Beginning asset retirement obligation $ 118,018 $ 103,981 $ 116,274  $ 108,284 

Liabilities incurred  184  2,060  540   6,089 
Liabilities settled  (2,170)  (1,873)  (5,176)   (12,470)
Accretion expense  2,209  1,718  4,510   3,383 
Revision to estimated cash flow  5,010  600  7,103   1,200 

Ending asset retirement obligation $ 123,251 $ 106,486 $ 123,251  $ 106,486 
              
 

As of June 30, 2009, accounts payable and accrued expenses contain $28.0 million related to the Company’s current asset retirement obligation liability.  These estimated
retirement costs are associated with the estimated retirement of some of the Company’s offshore platforms.
 

The Company recorded a loss related to hurricanes of $5.0 million and $7.1 million for the three-month and six-month periods ended June 30, 2009, respectively, which is
due to an increase in the estimated remediation costs and a reduction in the estimated insurance proceeds relating to the Vermilion 281 platform that was lost in Hurricane Ike.
 
Note 11 – Fair Value Measurements
 

Effective January 1, 2008, the Company partially adopted Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 157, “Fair Value Measurements” (“SFAS No. 157”) for all
financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis.  The statement establishes a framework for measuring fair value and requires enhanced disclosures about
fair value measurements.  SFAS No. 157 defines fair value as the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability (an exit price) in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date.  The statement establishes market or observable inputs as the preferred sources of values, followed by assumptions based on
hypothetical transactions in the absence of market inputs.  The statement establishes a hierarchy for grouping these assets and liabilities, based on the significance level of the
following inputs:
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·      Level 1 – Quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities
 

·      Level 2 – Quoted prices in active markets for similar assets and liabilities, quoted prices for identical or similar instruments in markets that are not active, and
model-derived valuations whose inputs are observable or whose significant value drivers are observable

 
·      Level 3 – Significant inputs to the valuation model are unobservable

 
Effective January 1, 2009, the Company adopted SFAS No. 157 for all nonfinancial assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a nonrecurring basis, including long-

lived assets and assets held for sale measured at fair value under SFAS No. 144, “Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets,” (“SFAS No. 144”) and asset
retirement obligations initially measured at fair value under SFAS No. 143, “Accounting for Asset Retirement Obligations” (“SFAS No. 143”).  The adoption of SFAS No.157 for
nonfinancial assets and liabilities did not have a material impact on the Company’s financial statements.
 

The following is a listing of the Company’s financial and nonfinancial assets and liabilities and where they are classified within the hierarchy as of June 30, 2009.
 
  Level 1  Level 2  Level 3  
  (In thousands)  
Assets:        

    Accrued derivative(a)  $ - $ 77,811 $ - 
Proved oil and gas properties(b)  $ - $ - $ - 

Liabilities:           
Accrued derivative(a)  $ - $ 77,781 $ - 
Net Profits Plan(a)  $ - $ - $ 156,524 

 
(a)  This represents a financial asset or liability that is measured at fair value on a recurring basis.
(b)  This represents a nonfinancial asset or liability that is measured at fair value on a nonrecurring basis.  The Company recorded $6.0 million of proved property impairments

for properties located in the Gulf of Mexico during the second quarter of 2009.  As of June 30, 2009, there was no carrying value for these assets included in the proved oil
and gas properties line item in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets.  The Company uses level 3 inputs to measure these assets at fair value.

 
The following is a listing of the Company’s financial assets and liabilities that are measured at fair value on a recurring basis and where they are classified within the

hierarchy as of December 31, 2008.
 
 Level 1  Level 2  Level 3  
 (In thousands)  
Assets:       

Accrued derivative $ - $ 133,190 $ - 
Liabilities:          

Accrued derivative $ - $ 27,920 $ - 
Net Profits Plan $ - $ - $ 177,366 

          
 

Both financial and nonfinancial assets and liabilities are categorized within the hierarchy based on the lowest level of input that is significant to the fair value
measurement.  The following is a description of the valuation methodologies used by the Company as well as the general classification of such instruments pursuant to the
hierarchy.
 
Derivatives
 

The Company uses Level 2 inputs to measure the fair value of oil and gas hedges.  Fair values are based upon interpolated data.  The Company calculates internal
valuation estimates taking into
 

-23-
 

 
 



 
 

consideration the counterparties’ credit ratings, the Company’s credit rating, and the time value of money.  These valuations are then compared to the respective counterparties’
mark-to-market statements.  The considered factors result in an estimated exit-price that management believes provide a reasonable and consistent methodology for valuing
derivative instruments.
 

Generally, market quotes assume that all counterparties have near zero, or low, default rates and have equal credit quality.  However, an adjustment may be necessary to
reflect the credit quality of a specific counterparty to determine the fair value of the instrument.  The Company monitors the credit ratings of its counterparties and may ask
counterparties to post collateral if their ratings deteriorate.  In some instances the Company will attempt to novate the trade to a more stable counterparty.
 

Valuation adjustments are necessary to reflect the effect of the Company’s credit quality on the fair value of any liability position with a counterparty.  This adjustment
takes into account any credit enhancements, such as collateral margin that the Company may have posted with a counterparty, as well as any letters of credit between the
parties.  The methodology to determine this adjustment is consistent with how the Company evaluates counterparty credit risk, taking into account the Company’s credit rating,
current credit facility margins, and any change in such margins since the last measurement date.  The majority of the Company’s derivative counterparties are members of St.
Mary’s credit facility bank syndicate.
 

The methods described above may result in a fair value estimate that may not be indicative of net realizable value or may not be reflective of future fair values and cash
flows.  While the Company believes that the valuation methods utilized are appropriate and consistent with the requirements of SFAS No. 157 and with other marketplace
participants, the Company recognizes that third parties may use different methodologies or assumptions to determine the fair value of certain financial instruments that could result
in a different estimate of fair value at the reporting date.
 
Net Profits Plan
 

The Net Profits Plan is a standalone liability for which there is no available market price, principal market, or market participants.  The inputs available for this instrument
are unobservable, and therefore classified as Level 3 inputs.  The Company employs the income approach, which converts expected future cash flow amounts to a single present
value amount.  This technique uses the estimate of future cash payments, expectations of possible variations in the amount and/or timing of cash flows, the risk premium, and
nonperformance risk to calculate the fair value.  There is a direct correlation between realized oil and gas commodity prices driving net cash flows and the Net Profits Plan
liability.  If commodity prices fall, the liability is reduced or eliminated.
 

The Company records the estimated fair value of the long-term liability for estimated future payments under the Net Profits Plan based on the discounted value of
estimated future payments associated with each individual pool.  The calculation of this liability is a significant management estimate.  For a predominate number of the pools, a
discount rate of 12 percent is used to calculate this liability.  This rate is intended to represent the best estimate of the present value of expected future payments under the Net
Profits Plan.
 

The Company’s estimate of its liability is highly dependent on commodity price and cost assumptions and the discount rates used in the calculations.  The commodity
price assumptions are formulated by applying the price that is derived from a rolling average of actual prices realized during the prior 24 months together with adjusted NYMEX
strip prices for the ensuing 12 months.  This average price is adjusted to include the effect of hedge prices for the percentage of forecasted production hedged in the relevant
periods.  The forecasted non-cash expense associated with this significant management estimate is highly volatile from period to period due to fluctuations that occur in the crude
oil and natural gas commodity markets.  The Company continually evaluates the assumptions used in this calculation in order
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to consider the current market environment for oil and gas prices, costs, discount rate, and overall market conditions.
 

If the commodity prices used in the calculation changed by five percent, the liability recorded at June 30, 2009, would differ by approximately $12 million.  A one
percentage point decrease in the discount rate would result in an increase to the liability of approximately $9 million, while a one percentage point increase in the discount rate
would result in a decrease to the liability of approximately $8 million.  Actual cash payments to be made to participants in future periods are dependent on actual production,
realized commodity prices, and costs associated with the properties in each individual pool of the Net Profits Plan.  Consequently, actual cash payments are inherently different
from the amounts estimated.
 

No published market quotes exist on which to base the Company’s estimate of fair value of the Net Profits Plan liability.  As such, the recorded fair value is based entirely
on the management estimates as described within this footnote.  While some inputs to the Company’s calculation of the fair value of the Net Profits Plan’s future payments are
from published sources, others, such as the discount rate and the expected future cash flows, are derived from the Company’s own calculations and estimates.  The following table
reflects the activity for the liabilities measured at fair value using Level 3 inputs for the three-month and six-month periods ended June 30, 2009, and 2008.
 

 
For the Three Months

Ended June 30,  
For the Six Months

Ended June 30,  
 2009  2008  2009  2008  
 (In thousands)  
         
Beginning balance $ 154,075 $ 225,032 $ 177,366 $ 211,406 

Net increase (decrease) in liability (a)  7,461  82,127  (12,192)  117,283 
Net settlements (a)(b)  (5,012)  (13,985)  (8,650)  (35,515)
Transfers in (out) of Level 3  -  -  -  - 

Ending balance $ 156,524 $ 293,174 $ 156,524 $ 293,174 
 

(a)  Net changes in the Net Profits Plan liability are shown in the Change in Net Profits Plan liability line item of the accompanying consolidated statements of operations.
(b)  Settlements represent cash payments made or accrued under the Net Profits Plan.

 
3.50% Senior Convertible Notes Due 2027
 

Based on the market price of the 3.50% Senior Convertible Notes, the estimated fair value of the notes was approximately $241.5 million and $204.0 million as of June
30, 2009, and December 31, 2008, respectively.
 
Proved Oil and Gas Properties
 

Proved oil and gas property costs are evaluated for impairment and reduced to fair value if the sum of the expected undiscounted future cash flows is less than net book
value pursuant to SFAS No. 144.  The Company uses Level 3 inputs and the income valuation technique, which converts future amounts to a single present value amount, to
measure the fair value of proved properties through an application of discount rates and price forecasts selected by the Company’s management.  The discount rate is a rate that
management believes is representative of current market conditions and includes the following factors: estimate of future cash payments, expectations of possible variations in the
amount and/or timing of cash flows, the risk premium, and nonperformance risk.  The price forecast is based on NYMEX strip pricing, adjusted for basis differentials, for the first
five years.  Future operating costs are also adjusted as deemed appropriate for these estimates.
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There were no long-lived assets measured at fair value within the accompanying consolidated balance sheets at June 30, 2009.  The Company adopted SFAS No. 157 for

all nonfinancial assets and liabilities, as previously discussed above, on January 1, 2009.
 
Asset Retirement Obligations
 

The Company estimates asset retirement obligations pursuant to the provisions of SFAS No. 143.  The income valuation technique is utilized by the Company to
determine the fair value of the liability at the point of inception by applying a credit-adjusted risk-free rate, which takes into account the Company’s credit risk, the time value of
money, and the current economic state, to the undiscounted expected abandonment cash flows.  Given the unobservable nature of the inputs the initial measurement of the asset
retirement obligation liability is deemed to use Level 3 inputs.  There were no asset retirement obligations measured at fair value within the accompanying consolidated balance
sheets at June 30, 2009.
 
 

Refer to Note 8 – Derivative Financial Instruments and Note 10 – Asset Retirement Obligations for more information regarding the Company’s hedging instruments and
asset retirement obligations.
 
Note 12 – Impairment of Proved and Unproved Properties
 

The Company recorded $6.0 million of proved property impairments during the second quarter of 2009.  The impairments were associated with proved properties in the
Gulf of Mexico.  The Company recorded a total of $153.1 million of proved property impairments during the first six months of 2009.  A significant decrease in the market price
for natural gas during the first quarter, including differentials in effect at March 31, 2009, caused the majority of this non-cash impairment of proved properties.  The largest portion
of the impairment was $97.3 million related to assets located in the Mid-Continent region.  The Company recorded $9.6 million of proved property impairments for both the three-
month and six-month periods ended June 30, 2008, which related to a write-down of assets located at the Apple Springs Field in Louisiana.
 

The Company recorded $11.6 million of abandonment and impairment of unproved properties in the second quarter of 2009 for a total of $15.5 million for the six months
ended June 30, 2009.  The largest portion of this impairment was related to Floyd Shale acreage located in Mississippi.  The Company recorded $2.1 million and $3.1 million of
abandonment and impairment of unproved properties, respectively, for the three-month and six-month periods ended June 30, 2008.
 
Note 13 – Assets Held for Sale
 

As of June 30, 2009, the Company is engaged in marketing for sale certain non-core oil and gas properties.  In accordance with SFAS No. 144, these properties have been
separately presented in the balance sheet at the lower of carrying value or estimated fair value less the cost to sell.  The accompanying consolidated balance sheet as of
June 30, 2009, presents $48.4 million of assets held for sale, net of accumulated depletion, depreciation and amortization.  Assets held for sale were measured at carrying value,
which was less than estimated fair value less cost to sell as of June 30, 2009.  Subsequent changes to estimated fair value less the cost to sell will impact the measurement of assets
held for sale if the fair value is determined to be less than the carrying value of the assets.  Asset retirement obligation liabilities of $9.3 million related to these properties have also
been reclassified to liabilities associated with oil and gas properties held for sale on the consolidated balance sheet as of June 30, 2009.  The Company determined that these sales
do not qualify for discontinued operations accounting under FASB Emerging Issues Task Force Issue No. 03-13 “Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived
Assets”.
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ITEM 2.  MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
 

This discussion and analysis contains forward-looking statements.  Refer to “Cautionary Information about Forward-Looking Statements” at the end of this item for an
explanation of these types of statements.  The prior year balances within the accompanying financial statements and notes have been adjusted to reflect the adoption of FSP APB
14-1.  Please refer to Note 7 – Long-term Debt within Part 1, Item 1 of this report for additional discussion.
 
Overview of the Company, Highlights, and Outlook
 
General Overview
 

We are an independent energy company focused on the development, exploration, exploitation, acquisition, and production of natural gas and crude oil in North
America.  We generate nearly all our revenues and cash flows from the sale of produced natural gas and crude oil.  Our oil and gas reserves and operations are concentrated
primarily in various Rocky Mountain basins, including the Williston, Big Horn, Wind River, Powder River, and Greater Green River basins; the Mid-Continent Anadarko and
Arkoma basins; the Permian Basin; the productive formations of East Texas and North Louisiana; the Maverick Basin in South Texas; and the onshore Gulf Coast and offshore
Gulf of Mexico.  We have developed a balanced and diverse portfolio of proved reserves, development drilling opportunities, and unconventional resource prospects.
 

Our mission is to deliver outstanding net asset value per share growth to our investors via attractive oil and gas investments.  Historically, we have relied on a strategy of
growing through niche acquisitions focused in the continental United States.  Over the last few years, we have shifted our strategy to focus on capturing potential resource plays
earlier and at a lower cost of entry.  This shift was due to the fact that, as we grew, the universe of potential niche acquisition targets became smaller, more expensive, and less
impactful to our growth.  We believe this shift will allow for more stable and predictable production and proved reserve growth.  Going forward, we will focus on continuing to
acquire significant leasehold positions in existing and emerging resource plays in North America.  Our strategy can be summarized as follows:
 

·      Acquire significant leasehold positions in new and emerging North American resource plays
 

·      Leverage our core competencies in drilling, in completing, and acquiring oil and gas assets
 

·      Exploit our significant legacy asset production and optimize our asset base through divestitures of non-core assets when appropriate
 

·      Maintain a strong balance sheet while funding the growth of the enterprise.
 
Financial Standing and Liquidity
 

During and subsequent to the third quarter of 2008, specific issues related to the financial sector rippled through the broader economy.  The failure or takeovers of several
large financial institutions adversely impacted the wider equity, debt, and credit markets.  Financial standing and liquidity have become increasingly important as concerns have
been raised regarding the pace of drilling activity in the exploration and production industry and the ability of companies to fund their planned activity.  In addition, fears of a
prolonged global recession or depression leading to declining energy demand have resulted in a significant decline in oil and natural gas prices.  We expect our remaining 2009
exploration and development program budget will be at or near our 2009 operating cash flows.  Accordingly, we do not anticipate accessing the equity or public debt markets for
the remainder of 2009.  We continue to believe
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we have adequate liquidity available to us through our credit facility as discussed below under the caption Overview of Liquidity and Capital Resources.
 
Oil and Gas Prices
 

Our financial condition and the results of our operations are significantly affected by oil and natural gas commodity prices, which can fluctuate dramatically.  We sell a
majority of our natural gas under contracts that use first of the month index pricing, which means that gas produced in a given month is sold at the first of the month price
regardless of the spot price on the day the gas is produced.  Our crude oil is sold using contracts that pay us either the average of the NYMEX West Texas Intermediate daily
settlement or the average of alternative posted prices for the periods in which the crude oil is produced, adjusted for quality, transportation, and location differentials.  The
following table is a summary of commodity price data for the second quarters of 2009 and 2008 and the first quarter of 2009.
 
 For the Three Months Ended  
 June 30, 2009  March 31, 2009  June 30, 2008  
Crude Oil (per Bbl):       
Average NYMEX price $ 59.62 $ 43.08 $ 123.98 
Realized price, before the effects of hedging $ 53.96 $ 34.40 $ 120.20 
Net realized price, including the effects of hedging $ 56.72 $ 44.16 $ 88.40 
          
Natural Gas (per Mcf):          
Average NYMEX price $ 3.72 $ 4.86 $ 10.80 
Realized price, before the effects of hedging $ 3.07 $ 4.00 $ 10.83 
Net realized price, including the effects of hedging $ 5.19 $ 6.14 $ 9.97 
 

Average quarterly NYMEX crude oil prices increased 38 percent from the first quarter of 2009 to the second quarter of 2009 from $43.08 per barrel to $59.62 per
barrel.  The 36-month forward strip price for crude oil also increased 22 percent to $76.46 per barrel at the end of the second quarter of 2009 compared with $62.79 per barrel at the
end of the first quarter of 2009.  The increase appears to be related to a more positive view of future oil demand, as well as the weakening of the U.S. dollar and announced
production cuts by OPEC.  On July 28, 2009, the 36-month forward strip price had increased from the end of the second quarter 2009 by one percent to $76.95 per barrel.  At the
same time, the near month price was $67.23 per barrel, which was four percent lower than the June 30, 2009, near month price of $69.89 per barrel.
 

Average quarterly NYMEX natural gas prices decreased 23 percent from the first quarter of 2009 to the second quarter of 2009 from $4.86 per Mcf to $3.72 per
Mcf.  Natural gas prices have been under downward pressure due to concerns regarding high levels of natural gas in storage, and anemic demand related to current economic
conditions fueling concerns of over-supply in the market.  The 36-month forward strip price for natural gas at the end of the first quarter of 2009 was $5.97 per MMBtu.  At the end
of the second quarter of 2009, the 36-month forward contract price had increased by six percent to $6.33 per MMBtu.  As of July 28, 2009, the 36-month forward strip price had
decreased four percent to $6.07 per MMBtu.  At the same time, the near month price had decreased from the June 30, 2009 near month price of $3.84 per MMBtu by an additional
eight percent to $3.54 per MMBtu.
 

While changes in quoted NYMEX oil and natural gas prices are generally used as a basis for comparison within our industry, the price we receive for oil and natural gas is
affected by quality, energy content, location, and transportation differentials for these products.  We refer to this price as our realized
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price, which excludes the effects of hedging.  Our realized price is further impacted by the results of our hedging contracts that are settled in the respective periods.  We refer to this
price as our net realized price.  Our net natural gas and oil price realizations for the six months ended June 30, 2009, were positively impacted by $78.3 million and $20.6 million
of realized hedge gains, respectively.
 
Hedging Activities
 

Hedging is an important part of our financial risk management program.  The amount of production we hedge is driven by the amount of debt on our consolidated balance
sheet and the level of capital commitments and long-term obligations we have in place.  In the case of a significant acquisition of producing properties, we will consider hedging a
portion of the acquired production in order to protect the economics assumed in the acquisition.  Taking into account all oil and gas production hedge contracts in place at June 30,
2009, we have hedged anticipated future production of approximately 7 million Bbls of oil, 52 million MMBtu of natural gas, and 447,000 Bbls of natural gas liquids through the
middle of 2012.  We believe we have established a base cash flow stream for our future operations, and our use of collars for a portion of the hedges, allows us to participate in
upward swings in oil and gas prices.  Please see Note 8 – Derivative Financial Instruments of Part I, Item 1 of this report for additional information regarding our oil and gas
hedges, and see the caption, Summary of Oil and Gas Production Hedges in Place, later in this section.
 

We attempt to qualify our oil and gas derivative instruments as cash flow hedges for accounting purposes under SFAS No. 133 and related pronouncements.  Changes in
the value of our hedge positions are primarily reflected in our consolidated balance sheets.  A small portion of the change in the value of our hedge positions is recognized in our
consolidated statements of operations due to the hedges being partially ineffective.  We recognized $11.3 million in non-cash derivative loss in the second quarter primarily as a
result of increases in the price of oil shifting previous oil hedge assets into hedge liabilities, previous hedge ineffectiveness gains on hedge assets to become ineffectiveness losses
from hedge liabilities.
 

The U.S. Congress is currently considering recent proposals to increase the regulatory oversight of the over-the-counter derivatives markets in order to promote more
transparency in those markets.  Although we cannot predict the ultimate outcome of these proposals, new regulations in this area may result in increased costs and cash collateral
requirements for the types of oil and gas derivative instruments that we use to hedge and otherwise manage our financial risks related to swings in oil and gas commodity prices.
 
Second Quarter 2009 Highlights
 

Developments in emerging resource plays.  During 2008 the Haynesville shale, the Eagle Ford shale, and the Marcellus shale resource plays emerged as significant new
sources of gas supply for the exploration and production industry.  We have exposure to each of these plays that, if successful, could provide for significant future organic growth
in reserves and production.  The Haynesville shale emerged early in 2008 in northern Louisiana and eastern Texas and quickly became the most active resource play in the
country.  Our position was built as a result of earlier leasing activity targeting the James Lime and Cotton Valley formations.  Our Eagle Ford shale position in the Maverick Basin
in South Texas was built in 2007 through 2009 through a combination of property acquisitions, leasing activity, and participation in a joint venture with industry partners.  Lastly,
late in 2008 we entered into two arrangements that allow us to earn or purchase acreage in the Marcellus shale in north central Pennsylvania.
 

During the second quarter of 2009, testing continued in several of the emerging resource plays in which we have exposure.  In Webb County, Texas we successfully
completed our first operated horizontal Eagle Ford shale well.  We also assumed operatorship of a joint venture between ourselves and two industry partners in the second
quarter.  This program is currently testing the potential of the Eagle Ford shale.  Between the joint venture and our other acreage holding, we currently have a total of 225,000 net
acres with potential for the Eagle Ford shale in Dimmitt, LaSalle, Maverick, and Webb counties in Texas.  We operated two drilling rigs in the program for much of the second
quarter.  After fulfilling our 2009 acreage
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earning commitments in the joint venture, we released one of these rigs.  Currently, one operated rig is drilling on high working interest acreage outside of the joint venture
area.  For the remainder of 2009, we anticipate completing two previously drilled wells and plan to drill an additional six wells on our 100 percent working interest acreage.
 

Early in the second quarter we announced the results of our first operated horizontal well in the Haynesville shale play of eastern Texas and northern Louisiana.  This well
is located in DeSoto Parish, Louisiana.  We believe the completion of the well was compromised by faulting in the area and its performance did not meet our expectations.  During
the quarter, we drilled our second well targeting the Haynesville shale in northern San Augustine County, Texas.  The well is awaiting completion pending core and logging
analysis, and it is anticipated that we will complete the well vertically.  Approximately 40,000 net acres of our total 50,000 net acres with exposure to the Haynesville shale are
located in eastern Texas, with the largest portion being located along the border between San Augustine and Shelby Counties.  We plan to drill one additional well targeting the
Haynesville shale in eastern Texas later this year and will continue to participate with partners in non-operated wells.
 

In the Marcellus shale program in Pennsylvania, we exercised our lease option on approximately 25,000 net acres late in the second quarter.  We now have over 40,000
net acres in north central Pennsylvania with potential for the Marcellus shale.  At the end of the quarter, we had begun drilling our first operated horizontal well in McKean
County.  We plan to drill one additional well in 2009 to further test our acreage.
 

Downward pressure on cost structure.  During the second quarter, reductions in costs that have long been anticipated by the exploration and production industry for the
drilling, completion, and operation of oil and gas properties began to occur.  While costs for these services are still highly dependent on specific regional factors, we have seen
significant reductions in the cost to drill and complete wells in response to the slowdown of drilling activity.  Lease operating costs also are decreasing as a result of the slowdown
in the exploration and production industry, as well as weakness in the broader economy.
 

Production results.  The table below details the regional breakdown of our second quarter 2009 production.
 

 
Mid-

Continent  ArkLaTex  Gulf Coast  Permian  
Rocky

Mountain  Total (1)  
Second Quarter 2009 Production:             
Oil (MBbl) 74.3 38.0 105.3 495.7 935.1 1,648.4 
Gas (MMcf) 9,068.4 3,733.9 1,724.4 1,083.3 2,719.3 18,329.3 

Equivalent (MMCFE) 9,514.2 3,962.1 2,356.3 4,057.3 8,329.6 28,219.5 
Avg. Daily Equivalents

(MMCFE/d) 104.6 43.5 25.9 44.6 91.5 310.1 
Relative percentage 34% 14% 8% 14% 30% 100% 

             
(1) Totals may not add due to rounding
 

For the second quarter of 2009 our oil and gas production and revenues were slightly better than originally budgeted.  We saw strong production performance from a
majority of our regions during the quarter.  However, production has declined over the last two quarters as a result of lower levels of capital investment.  Our ability to fund capital
investments is influenced significantly by the price we receive for produced oil and natural gas, which have declined significantly since mid-2008, resulting in reduced operating
cash flows for 2009.  Prices for these commodities have been and are expected to remain volatile.  We plan to fund our 2009 capital investments primarily from our operating cash
flows, which are expected to be significantly lower in 2009 compared to 2008.  As a result, we anticipate sequential decline in production over the next couple of quarters.
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First Six Months 2009 Highlights
 

Impairments.  We have recognized significant non-cash impairments during the first half of 2009, the majority of which occurred in the first quarter of the year.  During
the second quarter, we incurred an additional impairment on proved properties of $6.0 million related to the write-down of certain assets located in the Gulf of Mexico in which we
are relinquishing our ownership interests.  Our total impairment of proved properties for the six months ended June 30, 2009, totaled $153.1 million.  We recorded $147.0 million
of proved property impairments during the first quarter of 2009.  A significant decrease in the market price for natural gas, including differentials in effect at March 31, 2009,
caused the majority of the non-cash impairment of proved properties in that period.  The largest portion of the impairment was $97.3 million related to assets located in the Mid-
Continent region that were significantly impacted by wider than normal differentials at that time.  During the second quarter, we recognized a charge of $11.6 million for the
abandonment and impairment of unproved properties primarily associated with our Floyd shale leasehold in Mississippi.  We have recognized $15.5 million for the abandonment
and impairment of unproved properties for the six-month period ended June 30, 2009.  Lastly, we incurred inventory write-downs in the second quarter of $2.7 million for a total of
$11.3 million for the six-month period ended June 30, 2009, as a result of the decrease in the market value of tubular goods and other inventory items that were purchased in 2008
when prices for these goods were considerably higher.
 

Net Profits Plan.  For the six months ended June 30, 2009, the change in the value of this liability resulted in a non-cash benefit of $20.8 million compared to non-cash
expense of $81.8 million for the same period in 2008.  Significant decreases in oil and gas commodity prices have decreased the estimated liability for the future amounts to be paid
to plan participants.  This liability is a significant management estimate.  Adjustments to the liability are subject to estimation and may change dramatically from period to period
based on assumptions used for production rates, reserve quantities, commodity pricing, discount rates, tax rates, and production costs.
 

Payments made or accrued for current year distributions under the Net Profits Plan totaled $8.7 million and $35.5 million for the six months ended June 30, 2009, and
2008, respectively.  The actual cash payments we make are dependent on actual production, realized prices, and operating and capital costs associated with the properties in each
individual pool.  Actual cash payments will be inherently different from the estimated liability amounts.  More detailed discussion is included in the Comparison of Financial
Results and Trends sections below and in Note 11 – Fair Value Measurements in Part I, Item 1.  An increasing percentage of the costs associated with the payments for the Net
Profits Plan are now being categorized as general and administrative expense as compared to exploration expense.  This is a function of the normal departure of employees who
previously contributed to our exploration efforts.  In December 2007, our Board approved an incentive compensation plan restructuring, whereby the Net Profits Plan was replaced
with a long-term incentive program utilizing equity awards.  As a result, the 2007 Net Profits Plan pool was the last pool established.
 

The calculation of the estimated liability for the Net Profits Plan is highly sensitive to our price estimates and discount rate assumptions.  For example, if we changed the
commodity prices in our calculation by five percent, the liability recorded on the balance sheet at June 30, 2009, would differ by approximately $12 million.  A one percentage
point decrease in the discount rate would result in an increase to the liability of approximately $9 million, while a one percentage point increase in the discount rate would result in
a decrease to the liability of approximately $8 million.  We frequently re-evaluate the assumptions used in our calculations and consider the possible impacts stemming from the
current market environment including current and future oil and gas prices, discount rates, and overall market conditions.

 
-31-

 
 
 



 
 

Production results.  The table below details the regional breakdown of our first half of 2009 production.
 

 
Mid-

Continent  ArkLaTex  Gulf Coast  Permian  
Rocky

Mountain  Total (1)  
First six months of 2009

Production:             
Oil (MBbl) 147.9 73.6 197.7 1,005.1 1,863.8 3,288.1 
Gas (MMcf) 17,764.3 7,810.5 3,660.8 2,069.9 5,539.0 36,844.5 

Equivalent (MMCFE) 18,651.8 8,251.9 4,847.0 8,100.6 16,721.9 56,573.2 
Avg. Daily Equivalents

(MMCFE/d) 103.0 45.6 26.8 44.8 92.4 312.6 
Relative percentage 33% 14% 9% 14% 30% 100% 

             
(1) Totals may not add due to rounding
 

For the first half of 2009 our production and oil and gas production revenues have outperformed our initial budget for 2009 due to stronger than anticipated production
results from our Mid-Continent and Permian regions.
 
Outlook for the Remainder of 2009
 

Unlike prior years, we entered 2009 without a specific capital budget for exploration and development activities.  Our plan for the remainder of 2009 is to make capital
investments for exploration and development activities at a level at or near our operating cash flows.  Given the volatility of commodity prices in recent months, we have
established a flexible capital program that can be quickly adjusted rather than setting a fixed budget.
 

Our first priority in the current environment is to focus our limited capital dollars on the testing of emerging resource plays.  Our second priority is the rational
development of existing assets.  We believed a significant decline in commodity prices would cause the exploration and production industry to slow its level of activity.  We have
seen this occur, and as a result the United States natural gas rig count has declined approximately 58 percent from its peak of over 1,600 rigs in the third quarter of 2008 to its
current level of approximately 675.  This in turn has led to a decline in the cost of services provided by the oilfield service industry, and we have seen this trend accelerate
throughout the second quarter.  Prices for drilling and completion services have declined significantly during the year as a result of continued declines in rig
utilization.  Accordingly, we elected to defer much of our capital investment in development programs with the goal of improving our returns on invested capital.  Our lack of
significant long-term rig commitments and limited meaningful near term leasehold expiry allowed us to quickly slow our drilling activity.  In recent months, in response to the
reduction in drilling and completion costs and an increase in oil prices, we have shifted more of our development activity to primarily oil producing properties.  We have recently
added a drilling rig in our Wolfberry tight oil program in the Permian Basin and we plan to add a second rig in the basin later this year.  Additionally, the Company plans to operate
a drilling rig in the Williston Basin beginning in September of this year that will focus on oil-weighted Bakken and Three Forks projects.
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With respect to development activity focused on natural gas projects, we remain selective with our capital investment given the current price environment.  In our
exploration program, we continue to test the potential in the emerging resource plays to which we have exposure.  In the Eagle Ford shale, we plan to have one rig operate in the
play for the remainder of 2009.  This rig will operate on high working interest acreage in the southern part of our acreage holdings.  Our goal is to delineate our acreage position
in order to allow for a more rational development program should the play concept prove successful.  In the Haynesville shale, our plans for the remainder of the year include
completing the first well drilled on our acreage as well as drilling and completing our second East Texas Haynesville well.  In the Marcellus shale, we plan to have two wells
drilled and completed by the end of 2009.
 
Financial Results of Operations and Additional Comparative Data
 

We recorded a net loss of $8.3 million or ($0.13) per diluted share for the three months ended June 30, 2009, compared to second quarter 2008 results of net income of
$32.5 million or $0.52 per diluted share.
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The table below provides information regarding selected production and financial information for the quarter ended June 30, 2009, and the immediately preceding three
quarters.  Additional details of per MCFE costs are contained later in this section.
 
 For the Three Months Ended  
 June 30,  March 31,  December 31,  September 30,  
 2009  2009  2008  2008  
 (In millions, except production sales data)  
Production (BCFE)  28.2  28.4  30.0  27.7 
Oil and gas production revenue, excluding the

effects of hedging $ 145.3 $ 130.4 $ 190.5 $ 358.5 
Realized oil and gas hedge gain (loss) $ 43.3 $ 55.6 $ 44.8 $ (53.5)
Lease operating expense $ 35.6 $ 41.2 $ 47.7 $ 43.6 
Transportation costs $ 4.6 $ 5.5 $ 6.1 $ 6.6 
Production taxes $ 9.3 $ 9.1 $ 11.8 $ 22.5 
DD&A $ 70.4 $ 91.7 $ 95.1 $ 72.4 
Exploration $ 19.5 $ 13.6 $ 17.7 $ 10.7 
Impairment of proved properties $ 6.0 $ 147.0 $ 292.1 $ 0.5 
Abandonment and impairment of unproved

properties $ 11.6 $ 3.9 $ 34.7 $ 1.2 
Impairment of materials inventory $ 2.7 $ 8.6 $ - $ - 
Impairment of goodwill $ - $ - $ 9.5 $ - 
General and administrative expense $ 18.2 $ 16.4 $ 12.4 $ 24.1 
Bad debt expense $ - $ - $ - $ 6.7 
Change in Net Profits Plan liability $ 2.4 $ (23.3) $ (80.9) $ (34.9)
Unrealized derivative (gain) loss $ 11.3 $ 1.8 $ (12.0) $ (4.4)
Net income (loss) $ (8.3) $ (87.6) $ (127.1) $ 87.0 
             
Percentage change from previous quarter:             
Production (BCFE)  (1)%  (5)%  8%  (3)% 
Oil and gas production revenue, excluding the

effects of hedging  11%  (32)%  (47)%  (10)% 
Realized oil and gas hedge gain (loss)  (22)%  24%  (184)%  (22)% 
Lease operating expense  (14)%  (14)%  9%  6% 
Transportation costs  (16)%  (10)%  (8)%  18% 
Production taxes  2%  (23)%  (48)%  (17)% 
DD&A  (23)%  (4)%  31%  (5)% 
Exploration  43%  (23)%  65%  (39)% 
Impairment of proved properties  (96)%  (50)%  N/M  (95)% 
Abandonment and impairment of unproved

properties  197%  (89)%  N/M  (43)% 
Impairment of materials inventory  (69)%  N/A  N/A  N/A 
Impairment of goodwill  N/A  (100)%  N/A  N/A 
General and administrative expense  11%  32%  (49)%  10% 
Bad debt expense  N/A  N/A  (100)%  (33)% 
Change in Net Profits Plan liability  (110)%  (71)%  132%  (151)% 
Unrealized derivative (gain) loss  528%  (115)%  173%  267% 
Net income (loss)  (91)%  (31)%  (246)%  168% 
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Changes in production volumes, oil and gas production revenues, and costs reflect the cyclical and highly volatile nature of our industry.  As a result of the effects of

lower commodity prices, we have seen reduced activity among many exploration and production companies in recent quarters.  This reduction in activity has begun to diminish the
upward cost pressure we had seen in recent years and we anticipate that oil and gas production expenses in absolute dollars will decrease throughout the remainder of
2009.  Production taxes are largely dependent on the prices we receive for oil and natural gas.  Depreciation, depletion, and amortization generally has been pressured upward in
recent years as production related to properties acquired or developed in a higher cost environment became a larger percentage of our production mix.  During the first half of
2009, we have seen our DD&A rate fluctuate as a result of swings in commodity prices that impact impairments and proved reserve volumes.  Additionally, the accounting
treatment for high DD&A per MCFE gas assets that are currently classified as assets held for sale lowered our DD&A rate significantly in the second quarter.  Our general and
administrative expense will be impacted by cash payments made under the Net Profits Plan, which generally reflect our realized commodity prices.  Part of executing our business
plan has required the addition of employees, particularly lease operators who manage our operations in the field.
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A three-month and six-month overview of selected production and financial information, including trends:
 
Selected Operations Data (In thousands, except sales price, volume, and per MCFE amounts):  

 
For the Three Months

Ended June 30,  

Percent
Change
Between
Periods  

For the Six Months
Ended June 30,  

Percent
Change
Between
Periods  

 2009  2008    2009  2008    
Net production volumes             
Oil (MBbl)  1,648  1,644 -%   3,288  3,312 (1)% 
Natural gas (MMcf)  18,329  18,684 (2)%   36,844  37,027 -% 
MMCFE (6:1)  28,219  28,551 (1)%   56,573  56,898 (1)% 
                 
Average daily production                 
Oil (Bbl per day)  18,114  18,071 -%   18,166  18,197 -% 
Natural gas (Mcf per day)  201,422  205,322 (2)%   203,561  203,443 -% 
MCFE per day (6:1)  310,104  313,748 (1)%   312,559  312,626 -% 
                 
Oil & gas production revenues (1)                 
Oil production revenue $ 93,487 $ 145,365 (36)%  $ 165,900 $ 272,493 (39)% 
Gas production revenue  95,071  186,200 (49)%   208,695  345,554 (40)% 
Total $ 188,558 $ 331,565 (43)%  $ 374,595 $ 618,047 (39)% 
                 
Oil & gas production expense                 
Lease operating expense $ 35,602 $ 40,975 (13)% $ 76,850 $ 76,080 1% 
Transportation costs  4,568  5,624 (19)%  10,027  9,501 6% 
Production taxes  9,295  27,026 (66)%  18,417  47,520 (61)% 
Total $ 49,465 $ 73,625 (33)% $ 105,294 $ 133,101 (21)% 
                 
Average realized sales price (1)                 
Oil (per Bbl) $ 56.72 $ 88.40 (36)%  $ 50.45 $ 82.28 (39)% 
Natural gas (per Mcf) $ 5.19 $ 9.97 (48)%  $ 5.66 $ 9.33 (39)% 
                 
Per MCFE Data:                 
Average net realized price (1) $ 6.68 $ 11.61 (42)% $ 6.62 $ 10.86 (39)% 
Lease operating expenses  (1.26)  (1.43) (12)%  (1.36)  (1.33) 2% 
Transportation costs  (0.16)  (0.20) (20)%  (0.18)  (0.17) 6% 
Production taxes  (0.33)  (0.95) (65)%  (0.33)  (0.84) (61)% 
General and administrative  (0.64)  (0.77) (17)%  (0.61)  (0.76) (20)% 
Operating profit $ 4.29 $ 8.26 (48)% $ 4.14 $ 7.76 (47)% 
                 
Depletion, depreciation, amortization, and asset

retirement obligation liability accretion $ 2.49 $ 2.67 (7)%  $ 2.87 $ 2.58 11% 
(1) Includes the effects of hedging activities  
 

We present per MCFE information because we use this information to evaluate our performance relative to our peers and to identify and measure trends we believe
require analysis.  Volatility in commodity prices has impacted our operating margins.  The decrease in our equivalent realized price for production has corresponded with the
downward move in commodity prices over the last year while our cost structure has remained relatively steady.  Our operating margin of $4.29 for the second quarter of 2009 per
MCFE decreased 48 percent from the $8.26 we realized in the second quarter of 2008.  However, it has increased seven percent from the $4.03 per MCFE reported for the first
quarter of this year.
 

We experienced a decline in our operating margins in the first half of 2009, compared with the same period in 2008, due to a decrease in commodity prices and increases
in operating costs.  For the six
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months ended June 30, 2009, our operating margin was $4.14 per MCFE compared to $7.76 per MCFE for the same period in 2008.
 

Average daily production for the first six months of 2009 remained the same at 312.6 MMCFE compared with the same period in 2008.  For the six months ended June
30, 2009, our average net realized price decreased $4.24 per MCFE to $6.62 per MCFE compared with the same period in 2008. Lower commodity prices were the principal driver
of the decrease in the first half of 2009, compared with same period in 2008.  Unit costs decreased for the period as production taxes decreased $0.51 per MCFE to $0.33 per
MCFE and general and administrative expense decreased $0.15 per MCFE to $0.61 per MCFE.  Production taxes are highly correlated to commodity prices, and a portion of our
general and administrative expense is linked to our profitability and cash flow.  These decreases in costs were offset by a $0.03 per MCFE increase in lease operating expenses year
over year.  Transportation costs also increased $0.01 per MCFE, or six percent to $0.18 per MCFE as compared to the same period in 2008.
 

For the six months ended June 30, 2009, depletion, depreciation, and amortization, including asset retirement obligation accretion expense, increased $0.29 per MCFE to
$2.87 per MCFE compared with the same period in 2008.  The depletion, depreciation, and amortization increase is a result of a decrease in proved reserves used to calculate
DD&A in the first quarter of 2009 as described above.  Exploration expense for the first six months of 2009 was $33.1 million, which was four percent higher than the
$31.7 million incurred during the first six months of 2008.  Geological and geophysical expense increased $7.6 million due to an increase in the amount spent for seismic
analysis.  This increase was offset by a $4.3 million decrease in exploration overhead due to a decrease in Net Profits Plan payments resulting from decreased oil and gas
commodity prices and a $1.9 million decrease in exploratory dry hole expense.
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We present the following table as a summary of information relating to key indicators of financial condition and operating performance that we believe are important.
 
Financial Information (In thousands, except per share amounts):  

 June 30, 2009  
December 31,

2008  

Percent
Change
Between
Periods  

Working capital (deficit) $ (47,836) $ 15,193 (415)% 
Long-term debt $ 537,737 $ 558,713 (4)% 
Stockholders’ equity $ 1,011,428 $ 1,162,509 (13)% 
 
 

 
For the Three Months

Ended June 30,  
Percent
Change  

For the Six Months
Ended June 30,  

Percent
Change  

 2009  2008  
Between
Periods  2009  2008  

Between
Periods  

Basic net income (loss) per common share $ (0.13) $ 0.53 (125)% $ (1.54) $ 2.05 (175)% 
Diluted net income (loss) per common share $ (0.13) $ 0.52 (125)% $ (1.54) $ 2.01 (177)% 
                 
Basic weighted-average shares outstanding  62,418  61,714 (1)%  62,377  62,287 -% 
Diluted weighted-average shares outstanding  62,418  62,749 (1%)  62,377  63,404 (2)% 
 

We account for our 3.50% Senior Convertible Notes under the treasury stock method.  There is no impact on the diluted share calculation for the periods presented since
our average stock price for the relevant reporting periods has not exceeded the conversion price.  The 3.50% Senior Convertible Notes were issued April 4, 2007, and have not
been dilutive for a reporting period since their issuance.  We have in-the-money stock options, unvested RSUs, and PSAs that may be potentially dilutive securities.  Both basic
and diluted earnings per share are presented in the table above.  There were no potentially dilutive shares related to in-the-money stock options, unvested RSUs, and PSAs included
in the diluted earnings per share calculation for the six months or three months ended June 30, 2009, as we recorded a net loss for each of those periods.  A detailed explanation is
presented in Note 4 – Earnings per Share, in Part I, Item 1 of this report.
 

Basic and diluted weighted-average common shares outstanding used in our June 30, 2009, and 2008, earnings per share calculations reflect our stock repurchases, offset
by increases in outstanding shares related to stock option exercises, ESPP shares issued, and the settlement of vested RSUs.  We issued 19,570 and 812,376 shares of common
stock during the six-month periods ended June 30, 2009, and 2008, respectively, as a result of stock option exercises.  The first half 2008 share issuances were offset by the
repurchase of 2,135,600 shares of common stock during the first quarter of 2008 through our stock repurchase plan.  There were no shares repurchased during the first six months
of 2009.  Additionally, the number of RSUs that vested during the first six months of 2009 and 2008 were 119,426 and 196,245, respectively.
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Additional Comparative Data in Tabular Form:
 

 

Change Between the
Three Months Ended

June 30, 2009,
and 2008  

Change Between the
Six Months Ended

June 30, 2009,
and 2008  

Decrease in oil and gas production revenues, net of hedging (In thousands) $ 143,007 $ 243,452 
 
Components of revenue increases (decreases):
 
Oil     
Realized price change per Bbl,
            including the effects of hedging $ (31.68) $ (31.83) 
Realized price percentage change  (36)%  (39)% 
Production change (MBbl)  4  (24) 
Production percentage change  -%  (1)% 
       
Natural Gas       
Realized price change per Mcf,
            including the effects of hedging $ (4.78) $ (3.67) 
Realized price percentage change  (48)%  (39)% 
Production change (MMcf)  (355)  (183) 
Production percentage change  (2)%  -% 
 
Production mix as a percentage of total oil and gas revenue, including the effects of hedging, and production:
 

 
For the Three Months

Ended June 30,  
For the Six Months

Ended June 30,  
Revenue 2009  2008  2009  2008  
Oil 50%  44%  44%  44%  
Natural gas 50%  56%  56%  56%  
         
Production         
Oil 35%  35%  35%  35%  
Natural gas 65%  65%  65%  65%  
 
Information regarding the components of exploration expense:
 

 
For the Three Months

Ended June 30,  
For the Six Months

Ended June 30,  
 2009  2008  2009  2008  
Summary of Exploration Expense (In millions)  
Geological and geophysical expenses $ 6.3 $ 1.4 $ 10.7 $ 3.1 
Exploratory dry hole expense  4.6  5.9  4.7  6.6 
Overhead and other expenses  8.6  10.1  17.7  22.0 
Total $ 19.5 $ 17.4 $ 33.1 $ 31.7 
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Information regarding the effects of oil and gas hedging activity:
 

 
For the Three Months

Ended June 30,  
For the Six Months

Ended June 30,  
 2009  2008  2009  2008  
Oil Hedging         
Percentage of oil production
            hedged  47%  63%  48%  60% 
Oil volumes hedged (MBbl)  782  1,044  1,569  1,997 

Increase (decrease) in oil revenue $ 4.6 millionn $ (52.3 million) $ 20.6 million  $ 
(79.1

million) 
Average realized oil price per
            Bbl before hedging $ 53.96 $ 120.20 $ 44.21 $ 106.17 
Average realized oil price per
            Bbl after hedging $ 56.72 $ 88.40 $ 50.45 $ 82.28 
             
Natural Gas Hedging             
Percentage of gas production hedged  49%  43%  49%  41% 
Natural gas volumes hedged
            (MMBtu) $ 9.6 million $ 8.6 million $ 19.0 million  $ 16.1 million  
Increase (decrease) in gas
            revenue $ 38.7 million  $ (16.1 million) $ 78.3 million  $ 

(13.2
million) 

Average realized gas price per
            Mcf before hedging $ 3.07 $ 10.83 $ 3.54 $ 9.69 
Average realized gas price per
            Mcf after hedging $ 5.19 $ 9.97 $ 5.66 $ 9.33 
 
Comparison of Financial Results and Trends between the three months ended June 30, 2009, and 2008
 

Oil and gas production revenue.  Average daily production decreased one percent to 310.1 MMCFE for the quarter ended June 30, 2009, compared with 313.7 MMCFE
for the quarter ended June 30, 2008.  The following table presents the regional changes in our production and oil and gas revenues and costs between the two quarters.
 

 

Average Net
Daily Production

Added (Lost)  
Pre-Hedge Oil and
Gas Revenues Lost  

Production
Costs Decrease  

 (MMCFE)  (In millions)  (In millions)  
Mid-Continent 19.1 $ (53.1) $ (6.3)
ArkLaTex (3.6)  (39.2)  (0.6)
Gulf Coast (21.6)  (42.5)  (4.9)
Permian 6.3  (32.2)  (0.5)
Rocky Mountain (3.8)  (87.7)  (11.9)
Total (3.6) $ (254.7) $ (24.2)
 

Our daily production decreased slightly for the second quarter of 2009 compared to the same period in 2008.  The largest regional increase occurred in the Mid-Continent
region as a result of the success in the Woodford shale assets in the Arkoma Basin and strong results from our Deep Springer program in the Anadarko Basin.  The production
growth in the Permian region is the result of continued development of the Wolfberry assets at Sweetie Peck and Halff East.  Our organic increases offset most of a decrease in the
Gulf Coast region’s production caused primarily by an exchange of assets that occurred in late 2008
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whereby we received an increased interest in assets located at Sweetie Peck in exchange for assets located in the Judge Digby Field.
 

The following table summarizes the average realized prices we received in the second quarter of 2009 and 2008, before the effects of hedging.  Prices for oil and gas
decreased significantly between the two periods.
 

 
For the Three Months

Ended June 30,  
 2009  2008  
     
Realized oil price ($/Bbl) $ 53.96 $ 120.20 
Realized gas price ($/Mcf) $ 3.07 $ 10.83 
Realized equivalent price ($/MCFE) $ 5.15 $ 14.01 
 

The combination of relatively consistent production volumes and lower commodity prices between periods resulted in lower oil and gas revenue.
 

Realized oil and gas hedge gain (loss).  We recorded a realized hedge gain of $43.3 million for the three-month period ended June 30, 2009, the majority of which related
to favorable settlements on gas hedges, compared with a $68.4 million loss for the same period in 2008, which was primarily due to unfavorable settlements on our oil hedges.
 

Marketed gas system revenue and expense.  Marketed gas system revenue, which is included in the line item marketed gas and other operating revenue, decreased
$8.1 million to $14.2 million for the quarter ended June 30, 2009, compared with $22.3 million for the comparable period of 2008.  Concurrent with the decrease in marketed gas
system revenue, marketed gas system expense decreased $6.6 million to $13.6 million for the quarter ended June 30, 2009, compared with $20.2 million for the comparable period
of 2008.  The net margin has stayed relatively consistent with historical performance.  We expect that marketed gas system revenue and expense will continue to trend with
increases and decreases in production and our net realized price.
 

Oil and gas production expense.  Total production costs decreased $24.1 million, or 33 percent, to $49.5 million for the first quarter of 2009 from $73.6 million in the
comparable period of 2008.  Total oil and gas production costs per MCFE decreased $0.83 to $1.75 for the second quarter of 2009, compared with $2.58 for the same period in
2008.  This decrease is comprised of the following:
 

·      A $0.62 decrease in production taxes on a per MCFE basis due to the decrease in realized prices between periods
 

·      An $0.11 decrease in recurring LOE on a per MCFE basis due to reductions in recurring LOE that stem from the slowdown in activity in the exploration and
production industry, as well as the broader economy

 
·      A $0.04 decrease in overall transportation costs on a per MCFE basis driven by an decrease in transportation costs on our properties located in the Rocky Mountain

region
 

·      A $0.06 decrease in overall workover LOE on a per MCFE basis relating to a decrease in workover activity in the Mid-Continent and Gulf Coast regions.
 

Depletion, depreciation, amortization, and asset retirement obligation liability accretion.  DD&A decreased $6.0 million or eight percent to $70.4 million for the three-
month period ended June 30, 2009, compared with $76.4 million for the same period in 2008.  DD&A expense per MCFE decreased seven percent to $2.49 for the three-month
period ended June 30, 2009, compared to $2.67 for the same
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period in 2008.  The depletion, depreciation, and amortization decrease is largely a result of our exclusion of higher DD&A expense properties that are currently classified as assets
held for sale from the DD&A calculation.  Additionally, our DD&A expense per MCFE decreased due to the significant decrease in the carrying value of our properties as a result
of proved property impairments that we incurred in the fourth quarter of 2008 and the first quarter of 2009.
 

Exploration.  Exploration expense increased 12 percent to $19.5 million for the three-month period ended June 30, 2009, compared with $17.4 million for the same period
in 2008.  Geological and geophysical expense increased $4.9 million due to an increase in the amount spent for seismic analysis.  This increase was partially offset by a $1.5
million decrease in exploration overhead due to a decrease in Net Profits Plan payments as a result of decreased oil and gas commodity prices.
 

Impairment of proved properties.  We recognized $6.0 million for impairment of proved properties in the second quarter of 2009 related principally to impairments of
properties in the Gulf of Mexico for which we are relinquishing our ownership interests.  This compares to $9.6 million for the same period in 2008 that related to wells located in
the Apple Springs Field in the ArkLaTex.
 

Abandonment and impairment of unproved properties.  A charge of $11.6 million was recognized in the second quarter of 2009 for abandonment and impairment of
unproved properties.  This charge related primarily to the write-off of Floyd shale acreage.  This compares to a charge of $2.1 million that was recognized for the same period in
2008.
 

General and administrative.  General and administrative expense decreased $3.7 million or 17 percent to $18.2 million for the quarter ended June 30, 2009, compared
with $21.9 million for the comparable period of 2008.  G&A expense per MCFE decreased $0.13 to $0.64 per MCFE for the second quarter of 2009 compared to $0.77 per MCFE
for the same period in 2008.
 

Payments made under the Net Profits Plan decreased $4.8 million for the quarter ended June 30, 2009, compared with the same period in 2008.  The decrease was
primarily the result of lower commodity prices, which resulted in smaller Net Profits Plan payments to plan participants.  As of the end of the second quarter of 2009, 17 of our 21
pools are in payout status.  No additional pools are expected to reach payout in 2009.  This decrease in Net Profits Plan payments was offset by an increase in base employee
compensation, including payroll taxes and benefits, of approximately $2.1 million from the second quarter of 2008 to the second quarter of 2009.  The increase is a result of an
increase in employee head count between the two periods.  A significant driver of this headcount increase has been our conversion from contract lease operators to employee lease
operators.
 

Cash bonus and long-term incentive compensation expense remained relatively flat from quarter to quarter.  A $1.0 million increase in COPAS overhead reimbursements
due was to an increase in our operated well count.
 

Change in Net Profits Plan liability.  For the quarter ended June 30, 2009, this non-cash expense was $2.4 million compared to $68.1 million for the same period in
2008.  Significant decreases in oil and gas commodity prices have decreased the estimated liability for the future amounts to be paid to plan participants.  This liability is a
significant management estimate.  Adjustments to the liability are subject to estimation and may change dramatically from period to period based on assumptions used for
production rates, reserve quantities, commodity pricing, discount rates, tax rates, and production costs.
 

Unrealized derivative (gain) loss.  We recognized a loss of $11.3 million in the second quarter of 2009 compared to a gain of $1.2 million in the second quarter of
2008.  This non-cash item is driven by the change in the value of our hedge position, as well as the portion of that position that is considered ineffective for accounting purposes.
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Other expense.  Other expense increased $5.1 million to $5.8 million for the quarter ended June 30, 2009, compared with $702,000 for the same period in 2008.  In the

second quarter of 2009, we incurred an additional loss related to hurricanes of $5.0 million, which relates to a decrease in our estimate of insurance reimbursements related to the
Vermillion 281 platform that was lost in Hurricane Ike.
 

Income tax expense.  We recorded a benefit from income tax of $5.1 million for the second quarter of 2009 compared to income tax expense of $18.6 million for the
second quarter of 2008 resulting in effective tax rates of 38.0 percent and 36.4 percent, respectively.  The change in income tax expense is primarily the result of us recording a loss
before income taxes, as discussed above.  The 2009 increase in effective tax rate from 2008 reflects changes in the effects of other permanent differences including the domestic
production activities deduction and to a lesser extent, changes in the mix of the highest marginal state tax rates as a result of acquisition and drilling activity expected in 2009 versus
2008.  Our cash tax expense decreased for the second quarter of 2009 compared to the same period of 2008 due to decreased taxable income estimates caused by reduced revenue
resulting from decreased commodity prices and the impact of our drilling activity during 2009.  This trend is expected to continue throughout the remainder of 2009 based upon our
current projected capital expenditures program and commodity price outlook.  If the U.S Congress passes legislation to reduce or eliminate current deductions for intangible
drilling costs, the manufacturer’s deduction, or percentage depletion, we would expect our effective tax rate and the cash tax portion of our income tax expense to increase.
 
Comparison of Financial Results and Trends between the six months ended June 30, 2009, and 2008
 

Oil and gas production revenue.  Average daily production remained consistent at 312.6 MMCFE for the respective six months ended June 30 in 2009 and 2008.  The
following table presents the regional changes in our production and oil and gas revenues and costs between the two six month periods.
 

 

Average Net
Daily Production

Added (Lost)  
Pre-Hedge Oil and
Gas Revenues Lost  

Production Costs
Increase (Decrease)  

 (MMCFE)  (In millions)  (In millions)  
Mid-Continent 15.6 $ (91.4) $ (8.0)
ArkLaTex (2.5)  (60.0)  1.2 
Gulf Coast (17.9)  (67.9)  (7.6)
Permian 7.8  (57.7)  0.1 
Rocky Mountain (3.0)  (157.7)  (13.5)
Total 0.0 $ (434.7) $ (27.8)
 

Our daily production remained flat for the first six months of 2009 compared to the same period in 2008.  The largest regional increases occurred in the Mid-Continent
and Permian regions and offset a decrease in the Gulf Coast region which is described in more detail above.
 

The following table summarizes the average realized prices we received in the first six months of 2009 and 2008, before the effects of hedging.  Prices for oil and gas
decreased significantly between the two periods.
 

 
For the Six Months

Ended June 30,  
 2009  2008  
     
Realized oil price ($/Bbl) $ 44.21 $ 106.17 
Realized gas price ($/Mcf) $ 3.54 $ 9.69 
Realized equivalent price ($/MCFE) $ 4.87 $ 12.49 
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The combination of flat production volumes and lower commodity prices between periods resulted in lower oil and gas revenue.  We expect this trend to continue

throughout 2009 based on current futures market pricing.
 

Realized oil and gas hedge gain (loss).  We recorded a realized hedge gain of $98.9 million for the six-month period ended June 30, 2009, related to settlements on oil
and gas hedges, compared with a $92.3 million loss for the same period in 2008, which was primarily due to unfavorable settlements on our oil hedges.
 

Marketed gas system revenue and expense.  Marketed gas system revenue, which is included in the line item marketed gas and other operating revenue, decreased
$13.6 million to $27.6 million for the six-month period ended June 30, 2009, compared with $41.2 million for the comparable period of 2008.  Concurrent with the decrease in
marketed gas system revenue, marketed gas system expense decreased $11.0 million to $27.0 million for the six-month period ended June 30, 2009, compared with $38.0 million
for the comparable period of 2008.  The net margin has stayed relatively consistent with historical performance.  We expect that marketed gas system revenue and expense will
continue to trend with increases and decreases in production and our net realized price.
 

Gain on sale of proved properties.  We had a $645,000 net gain on sale of proved properties for the six-month period ended June 30, 2009, compared with a $59.1 million
gain on sale for the comparable period of 2008 due to the divestiture of non-core oil and gas properties to Abraxas that occurred in the first quarter of 2008.  We regularly evaluate
potential divestitures of non-strategic properties.
 

Oil and gas production expense.  Total production costs decreased $27.8 million, or 21 percent, to $105.3 million for the first six months of 2009 from $133.1 million in
the comparable period of 2008.  Total oil and gas production costs per MCFE decreased $0.47 to $1.87 for the first six months of 2009, compared with $2.34 for the same period in
2008.  This decrease is comprised of the following:
 

·      A $0.51 decrease in production taxes on a per MCFE basis due to the decrease in realized prices between periods, particularly in the oil-weighted Rocky Mountain
and Permian Basin regions

 
·      A $0.06 increase in recurring LOE on a per MCFE basis due to generally higher costs in the first quarter of 2009 and in the oil-weighted Permian region for items

such as fuel and fluid disposal, as well as in the ArkLaTex
 

·      A $0.01 increase in overall transportation cost on a per MCFE basis
 

·      A $0.03 decrease in overall workover LOE on a per MCFE basis relating to a decrease in workover activity in the Mid-Continent and Gulf Coast regions.
 

Depletion, depreciation, amortization, and asset retirement obligation liability accretion.  DD&A increased $15.4 million or ten percent to $162.1 million for the six-
month period ended June 30, 2009, compared with $146.7 million for the same period in 2008.  DD&A expense per MCFE increased 11 percent to $2.87 for the six-month period
ended June 30, 2009, compared to $2.58 for the same period in 2008.  The depletion, depreciation, and amortization increase reflects the industry trend of increased amounts of
investment to add reserves.  Generally, as these recently acquired or developed assets become a larger portion of our asset base, our DD&A expense will increase.  Additionally,
the reserves used in the calculation of DD&A expense are impacted by price.  The price for oil and gas that we have seen since mid-2008 has had a downward impact on the
amount of proved reserves used by our Company in the calculation of DD&A expense, which has a corresponding upward impact on our DD&A per MCFE.
 

Exploration.  Exploration expense increased four percent to $33.1 million for the six-month period ended June 30, 2009, compared with $31.7 million for the same period
in 2008.  Geological and
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geophysical expense increased $7.6 million due to an increase in the amount spent for seismic analysis.  This increase was offset by a $4.3 million decrease in exploration overhead
due to decrease in Net Profits Plan payments as a result of decreased oil and gas commodity prices.
 

Impairment of proved properties.  Impairment of proved properties increased to $153.1 million for the six-month period ended June 30, 2009, compared with $9.6 million
for the same period in 2008.  This impairment was driven by a significant decrease in realized gas prices in the first quarter of 2009, particularly in the Mid-Continent region, and
for our coalbed methane project at Hanging Woman Basin.
 

Abandonment and impairment of unproved properties.  Abandonment and impairment of unproved properties increased to $15.5 million for the six-month period ended
June 30, 2009, compared with $3.1 million for the same period in 2008.  The charge related primarily to a write-off of Floyd shale acreage located in Mississippi.
 

Impairment of materials inventory.  We recorded an $11.3 million impairment of materials inventory for the six-month period ended June 30, 2009.  There were no
impairments recorded for the six-month period ended June 30, 2008. The inventory impairment was caused by a decrease in the value of tubular goods and other raw materials.
 

General and administrative.  General and administrative expense decreased $8.4 million or 20 percent to $34.6 million for the six months ended June 30, 2009, compared
with $43.0 million for the comparable period of 2008.  G&A expense per MCFE decreased $0.15 to $0.61 per MCFE for the first six months of 2009 compared to $0.76 per MCFE
for the same six-month period in 2008.
 

Payments made under the Net Profits Plan decreased $10.1 million for the six months ended June 30, 2009, compared with the same period in 2008.  The decrease was
primarily the result of lower commodity prices, which resulted in smaller Net Profits Plan payments to plan participants.  This decrease in Net Profits Plan payments was partially
offset by an increase in base employee compensation, including payroll taxes and benefits, of approximately $5.4 million from the first six months of 2008 to the first six months
of 2009.  The increase is a result of an increase in employee head count.  A significant driver of this headcount increase has been our conversion from contract lease operators to
employee lease operators.  Cash bonus and long-term incentive compensation expense remained relatively flat from year to year.
 

The above amounts combined with a $600,000 decrease in other G&A expenses, including charitable contributions, were offset by a $3.1 million increase in COPAS
overhead reimbursements, which is due to an increase in our operated well count.
 

Change in Net Profits Plan liability.  For the six months ended June 30, 2009, this non-cash item was a benefit of $20.8 million compared to an expense of $81.8 million
for the same period in 2008.  Significant decreases in oil and gas commodity prices have decreased the estimated liability for the future amounts to be paid to plan participants.
 

Unrealized derivative (gain) loss.  We recognized a loss of $13.1 million for the six months ended June 30, 2009, compared to a loss of $5.2 million for the same period in
2008.  This non-cash item is driven by the change in the value of our hedge position, as well as the portion of that position that is considered ineffective for accounting purposes.
 

Other expense.  Other expense increased $10.1 million to $11.5 million for the six months ended June 30, 2009, compared with $1.4 million for the same period in
2008.  In the first quarter of 2009, we incurred $2.6 million of expense related to the assignment of a drilling rig contract in our Rocky Mountain region.  We also incurred an
additional loss related to hurricanes of $7.1 million for the six months ended June 30, 2009.
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Income tax expense.  Income tax benefit totaled $59.0 million for the six-month period of 2009 compared to income tax expense of $74.5 million for the same period of
2008 resulting in effective tax rates of 38.1 percent and 36.9 percent, respectively.  The change in income tax expense is primarily the result of us recording a loss before income
taxes as discussed above.  The 2009 increase in effective tax rate from 2008 reflects changes in other permanent differences including the domestic production activities deduction
and to a lesser extent, changes in the mix of the highest marginal state tax rates as a result of acquisition and drilling expected in 2009 versus 2008.  Our cash tax expense decreased
for the six months ended June 30, 2009, compared to the six months ended June 30, 2008, due to decreased taxable income estimates caused by reduced revenue resulting from
decreased commodity prices and the impact of our drilling activity during 2009.
 
Overview of Liquidity and Capital Resources
 

We believe that we have sufficient liquidity and capital resources to execute our business plans for the foreseeable future.
 
Sources of Cash
 

Based on our current outlook, we plan to keep capital expenditures for our exploration and development activities at a level at or near our operating cash flows in
2009.  Accordingly, we do not expect to access the capital markets for the remainder of 2009.  We anticipate that we will continue to evaluate our property base for divestiture
candidates that we consider non-core to our strategic goals.  We presently are marketing non-core assets and have identified assets that we intend to market for sale in the second
half of 2009 depending on acquisition and divestiture market conditions.  However, given our strong financial position we will not sell these properties unless we receive value we
consider appropriate.
 

Our primary sources of liquidity are the cash flows provided by operating activities, debt financing, sales of non-core properties, and access to capital markets.  All of
these sources can be impacted by the general condition of the broad economy and by significant fluctuations in oil and gas prices, operating costs, and volumes produced which
affect us and our industry.  We have no control over the market prices for oil and natural gas, although we are able to influence the amount of our net realized revenues related to
oil and gas sales through the use of derivative contracts.  A decrease in market prices reduces expected cash flow from operating activities and could reduce the borrowing base of
our credit facility as well as the value of non-strategic properties we might consider selling.  Historically, decreases in market prices have limited our industry’s access to the capital
markets.  The public debt markets are currently accessible, although at higher costs.  Equity and convertible debt financings are still an available alternative.  We do not anticipate
raising public debt or equity financing in the foreseeable future.  We intend to rely on our credit facility for borrowings.  However, a significant transaction could necessitate
raising additional public debt or equity financing.
 
Current Credit Facility
 

On April 14, 2009, we entered into an amended $1.0 billion senior secured revolving credit facility with twelve participating banks.  The initial borrowing base has been
set at $900 million.  We have been provided a $678 million commitment amount by the bank group.  The new amended credit facility agreement has a maturity date of
July 31, 2012.  Management believes that the current commitment is sufficient for our liquidity needs.  To date, we have experienced no issues drawing upon our credit
facility.  No individual bank participating in the credit facility represents more than 16 percent of the lending commitments under the credit facility.  We are monitoring the
borrowing environment closely and have frequent discussions with the lending group.
 

As of July 28, 2009, we had $421.7 million of available borrowing capacity under this facility.  Interest and commitment fees are accrued based on the borrowing base
utilization grid located in Note 7 – Long-term Debt in Part I, Item 1 of this report.  We have a single letter of credit outstanding under our
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credit facility in the amount of $1.3 million as of June 30, 2009, and through the date of this filing.  Such borrowings and letter of credit reduce the amount available under the
commitment amount on a dollar-for-dollar basis.  Borrowings under the facility are secured by mortgages on the majority of our oil and gas properties.  As of July 28, 2009, we
also had approximately $20 million of cash on hand that we could use to further reduce the outstanding balance under our credit facility.
 

Our weighted-average interest rate in the three-month periods ended June 30, 2009, and 2008, was 5.5 percent and 5.6 percent, respectively.  Our weighted-average
interest rate in the six-month periods ended June 30, 2009, and 2008, was 4.9 percent and 5.9 percent, respectively.  Our weighted-average interest rates in the current and prior
year include fees paid on the unused portion of the credit facility’s aggregate commitment amount and amortization of the debt discount and deferred financing costs.
 

We are subject to customary financial and non-financial covenants under our new amended credit facility, including limitations on dividend payments and requirements to
maintain certain financial ratios, which include debt to earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation, and amortization (“EBITDA”) of less than 3.5 to 1.0 and a current ratio as
defined by our credit agreement of not less than 1.0 to 1.0.  These covenants are substantially the same as those under our previous credit facility.  As of June 30, 2009, our debt to
EBITDA ratio and current ratio as defined by our credit agreement, were 1.08 and 2.38, respectively.  We are in compliance with all financial and non-financial covenants under
our credit facility.
 
Uses of Cash
 

We use cash for the acquisition, exploration, and development of oil and gas properties, and for the payment of debt obligations, trade payables, income taxes, common
stock repurchases, and stockholder dividends.  In the first six months of 2009 we spent $215.8 million for exploration and development capital expenditures.  These amounts differ
from our cost incurred amounts based on the timing of cash payments associated with these activities as compared to the accrual based activity upon which costs incurred amounts
are presented.  These cash flows were funded using cash inflows from operations and available borrowing capacity under our revolving credit facility.
 

Expenditures for exploration and development of oil and gas properties and acquisitions are the primary use of our capital resources.  We expect our capital and
exploration expenditures in 2009 will be at or near operating cash flows.  The amount and allocation of future capital expenditures will depend upon a number of factors including
the number and size of available economic acquisitions and drilling opportunities, our cash flows from operating and financing activities, and our ability to assimilate
acquisitions.  Also, the impact of oil and gas prices on investment opportunities, the availability of capital and borrowing facilities, and the success of our development and
exploratory activities could lead to changes in funding requirements for future development.  We regularly review our planned capital expenditures to assess changes in current and
projected cash flows, acquisition opportunities, debt requirements, and other factors.
 

As of the filing date of this report we have Board authorization to repurchase up to 3,072,184 shares of our common stock under our stock repurchase program.  Shares
may be repurchased from time to time in open market transactions or privately negotiated transactions subject to market conditions and other factors including certain provisions of
our existing bank credit facility agreement, compliance with securities laws, and the terms and provisions of our stock repurchase program.
 

During the second half of 2009, the U.S. Congress will give consideration to a 2010 budget.  Current proposals to fund programs proposed by the Administration include
eliminating or reducing current deductions for intangible drilling costs, the manufacturer’s deduction, and percentage depletion.  Legislation eliminating these deductions would
have the immediate effect of reducing operating cash flows thereby reducing funding available for our exploration and development capital programs, and those of our peers in the
industry.  These funding reductions could potentially have a significant adverse affect on drilling in the United States for a number of years.
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The following table presents amount and percentage changes in cash flows between the six-month periods ended June 30, 2009, and 2008.  The analysis following the
table should be read in conjunction with our consolidated statements of cash flows in Part I, Item 1 of this report.
 

 
For the Six Months

Ended June 30,    Percent  
 2009  2008  Change  Change  
 (In thousands)    
Net cash provided by operating activities $ 241,761 $ 316,514 $ (74,753) (24)% 
Net cash used in investing activities $ 199,389 $ 273,076 $ (73,687) (27)% 
Net cash used in financing activities $ 38,114 $ 50,029 $ (11,915) (24)% 
 
Analysis of Cash Flow Changes Between the Six Months Ended June 30, 2009, and June 30, 2008
 

Operating activities.  Cash received from oil and gas production revenue, net of the realized effects of hedging, decreased $185.8 million to $398.9 million for the first six
months of 2009, compared with $584.7 million for the first six months of 2008.  Included in operating revenues for the six-month period ended June 30, 2009, is $98.9 million of
net realized hedging gains.  A significant portion of the decrease in oil and gas production revenue, net of the realized effects of hedging, was the result of decreases in commodity
prices.  We received a net cash refund for income taxes in the first six months of 2009 of $10.4 million compared with net cash income taxes paid of $18.7 million for the same
period in 2008.
 

Investing activities.  Cash used for investing activities decreased $73.7 million for the six months ended June 30, 2009, compared with the same period in 2008.  Cash
outflows for capital expenditures decreased $113.8 million or 35 percent to $215.8 million for the six months ended June 30, 2009, reflecting a reduced level of activity as a result
of lower commodity prices.  Cash outflow relating to the acquisition of oil and gas properties also decreased $62.9 million to $44,000 for the six months ended June 30, 2009,
compared with the same period in 2008 due to reduced activity in acquisition markets during the first six months of 2009.  We acquired assets in the Carthage Field during the first
half of 2008, which have potential in the Cotton Valley and Haynesville shale formations.  These decreases in cash flow were partially offset by a decrease year over year in
proceeds from the sale of oil and gas properties.  For the six months ended June 30, 2009, there were no major divestitures compared with the same period in 2008 when we
received $154.6 million from the sale of non-core properties to Abraxas.
 

Financing activities.  Net repayments on our credit facility increased by $35.0 million for the six-month period ended June 30, 2009, compared with the same period in
2008.  We spent $11.0 million on debt issuance costs for the Company’s amended credit facility during the six-month period ended June 30, 2009. We did not incur any debt
issuance costs during the six-month period ended June 30, 2008.  We spent $77.2 million to repurchase our common stock during the six-month period ended
June 30, 2008.  There were no share repurchases during the same period in 2009.
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Capital Expenditures
 

The following table sets forth certain historical information regarding the costs incurred by us in our oil and gas activities.
 

 
For the Six Months

Ended June 30,  
 2009  2008  
 (In thousands)  
     
Development costs (1) $ 127,624 $ 306,109 
Exploration costs  38,730  53,710 
Acquisitions       

    Proved properties  51  37,578 
            Unproved properties – acquisitions of proved properties (2)  -  25,696 

    Unproved properties - other  19,864  13,723 
Total, including asset retirement obligations (3) $ 186,269 $ 436,816 
 
(1)   Includes capitalized interest of $1.0 million in 2009 and $2.5 million in 2008.
(2)   Represents a portion of the allocated purchase price of unproved properties acquired as part of the acquisition of proved properties.

   (3) Includes amounts relating to estimated asset retirement obligations of $506,000 in 2009 and $6.1 million in 2008.
 

Costs incurred for capital and exploration activities during the first six months of 2009 decreased $250.5 million or 57 percent compared to the same period in
2008.  Excluding acquisitions, our development and exploration investments decreased $193.5 million compared to the same period in the prior year.  This decrease in capital and
exploration activities during the first six months of 2009 compared with the same period in 2008 is a result of our decision to invest at or near our operating cash flows for 2009 and
to defer some development projects into the second half of 2009 and beyond in order to improve returns on invested capital by taking advantage of expected improved commodity
prices and/or lower drilling and completion costs.
 

We believe our operating cash flows together with the cash available under our credit facility will be sufficient to fund our planned operating, drilling, and acquisition
expenditures for the foreseeable future.  The amount and allocation of future capital and exploration expenditures will depend upon a number of factors, including the number and
size of available economic acquisition and drilling opportunities, our cash flows from operating and financing activities, and our ability to assimilate leasehold and producing
property acquisitions.  In addition, the impact of oil and natural gas prices on investment opportunities, the availability of capital and borrowing facilities, and the success of our
development and exploratory activities may lead to changes in funding requirements for future development.
 
Commodity Price Risk and Interest Rate Risk
 

We are exposed to market risk, including the effects of changes in oil and gas commodity prices and changes in interest rates as discussed below under the caption
Summary of Interest Rate Risk.  Changes in interest rates can affect the amount of interest we earn on our cash, cash equivalents, and the amount of interest we pay on borrowings
under our revolving credit facility.  Changes in interest rates do not affect the amount of interest we pay on our fixed-rate 3.50% Senior Convertible Notes, but do affect their fair
market value.
 

There has been no material change to the natural gas and crude oil price sensitivity analysis previously disclosed.  Refer to the corresponding section under Part II, Item 7
of our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2008.
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Summary of Oil and Gas Production Hedges in Place
 

Our oil and natural gas derivative contracts include swap and costless collar arrangements.  All contracts are entered into for other-than-trading purposes.  Please refer to
Note 8 – Derivative Financial Instruments in Part I, Item 1 of this report for additional information regarding accounting for our derivative transactions.
 

Our net realized oil and gas prices are impacted by hedges we have placed on future forecasted production.  Hedging is an important part of our financial risk
management program.  The amount of production we hedge is driven by the amount of debt on our consolidated balance sheet and the level of capital and long-term commitments
we have made.  In the case of a significant acquisition of producing properties, we will consider hedging a portion of the anticipated production in order to protect the economics
assumed at the time of the acquisition.  As of June 30, 2009, and through the date of this filing, our hedged positions of anticipated production through mid-2012 totaled
approximately 7 million Bbls of oil, 52 million MMBtu of natural gas, and 447,000 Bbls of natural gas liquids.
 

In a typical commodity swap agreement, if the agreed upon published third-party index price is lower than the swap fixed price, we receive the difference between the
index price and the agreed upon swap fixed price.  If the index price is higher than the swap fixed price, we pay the difference.  For collar agreements, we receive the difference
between an agreed upon index and the floor price if the index price is below the floor price.  We pay the difference between the agreed upon contracted ceiling price and the index
price if the index price is above the contracted ceiling price.  No amounts are paid or received if the index price is between the contracted floor and ceiling prices.
 

The following tables describe the volumes, average contract prices, and fair values of contracts we have in place as of June 30, 2009.  The Company seeks to minimize
ineffectiveness by entering into oil derivative contracts indexed to NYMEX WTI and natural gas derivative contracts indexed to regional index prices associated with pipelines in
proximity to the Company’s areas of production.  As the Company’s derivative contracts contain the same index as the Company’s sales contracts, this results in derivative
contracts that are highly correlated with the underlying hedged item.
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Oil Contracts
 
Oil Swaps       

Contract Period
NYMEX WTI

Volumes  

Weighted-
Average
Contract

Price  

Fair Value at
June 30, 2009

Asset/(Liability)  
 (Bbl)  (per Bbl)  (In thousands)  
       
Third quarter 2009 509,000 $ 71.96 $ 475 
Fourth quarter 2009 459,000 $ 72.31  (224)
         
2010 1,596,000 $ 68.77  (9,886)
2011 1,164,000 $ 67.06  (12,106)
2012 183,000 $ 81.15  220 
         
All oil swaps 3,911,000    $ (21,521)
 
 
Oil Collars         

Contract Period
NYMEX WTI

Volumes  

Weighted-
Average

Floor
Price  

Weighted-
Average
Ceiling
Price  

Fair Value at
June 30, 2009

Liability  
 (Bbl)  (per Bbl)  (per Bbl)  (In thousands)  
         
Third quarter 2009 384,500 $ 50.00 $ 67.31 $ (2,289)
Fourth quarter 2009 384,500 $ 50.00 $ 67.31  (3,552)
            
2010 1,367,500 $ 50.00 $ 64.91  (18,558)
2011 1,236,000 $ 50.00 $ 63.70  (20,958)
All oil collars 3,372,500       $ (45,357)
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Gas Contracts
 
Gas Swaps       

Contract Period Volumes  

Weighted-
Average
Contract

Price  

Fair Value at
June 30, 2009

Asset/(Liability)  
 (MMBtu)  (per MMBtu)  (In thousands)  
       
Third quarter 2009       

IF ANR OK 100,000 $ 7.11 $ 380 
IF CIG 300,000 $ 6.64  1,175 
IF EL PASO 300,000 $ 6.94  1,092 
IF HSC 2,680,000 $ 8.25  11,910 
IF NGPL 100,000 $ 6.86  355 
IF PEPL 360,000 $ 7.47  1,529 
IF RELIANT 510,000 $ 3.84  249 
NYMEX Henry Hub 420,000 $ 7.76  1,609 

         
Fourth quarter 2009         

IF ANR OK 90,000 $ 7.43  284 
IF CIG 150,000 $ 7.42  540 
IF EL PASO 300,000 $ 7.01  864 
IF HSC 2,620,000 $ 8.60  10,602 
IF NGPL 90,000 $ 7.14  255 
IF RELIANT 810,000 $ 4.34  68 
NYMEX Henry Hub 710,000 $ 7.18  1,626 

         
2010         

IF ANR OK 60,000 $ 7.98  152 
IF EL PASO 1,090,000 $ 6.79  1,414 
IF HSC 6,080,000 $ 8.40  16,393 
IF NGPL 990,000 $ 5.51  (123)
IF RELIANT 4,200,000 $ 5.32  (1,001)
NYMEX Henry Hub 3,750,000 $ 7.13  4,031 

         
2011         

IF EL PASO 1,470,000 $ 6.40  325 
IF HSC 360,000 $ 9.01  777 
IF NGPL 480,000 $ 5.98  (188)
IF RELIANT 1,860,000 $ 5.96  (690)
IF TETCO STX 870,000 $ 6.76  - 
NYMEX Henry Hub 2,130,000 $ 6.72  (228)

         
All gas swap contracts 32,880,000    $ 53,400 
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Gas Collars         

Contract Period Volumes  

Weighted-
Average

Floor
Price  

Weighted-
Average
Ceiling
Price  

Fair Value at
June 30, 2009

Asset/(Liability)  
 (MMBtu)  (per MMBtu)  (per MMBtu)  (In thousands)  
         
Third quarter 2009         

IF CIG 600,000 $ 4.75 $ 8.82 $ 1,190 
IF HSC 210,000 $ 5.57 $ 9.49  377 
IF PEPL 1,385,000 $ 5.30 $ 9.25  2,853 
NYMEX Henry Hub 90,000 $ 6.00 $ 10.35  192 

            
Fourth quarter 2009            

IF CIG 600,000 $ 4.75 $ 8.82  746 
IF HSC 210,000 $ 5.57 $ 9.49  284 
IF PEPL 1,385,000 $ 5.30 $ 9.25  1,928 
NYMEX Henry Hub 90,000 $ 6.00 $ 10.35  131 

            
2010            

IF CIG 2,040,000 $ 4.85 $ 7.08  675 
IF HSC 600,000 $ 5.57 $ 7.88  262 
IF PEPL 4,945,000 $ 5.31 $ 7.61  2,096 
NYMEX Henry Hub 240,000 $ 6.00 $ 8.38  133 

            
2011            

IF CIG 1,800,000 $ 5.00 $ 6.32  (581)
IF HSC 480,000 $ 5.57 $ 6.77  (206)
IF PEPL 4,225,000 $ 5.31 $ 6.51  (1,821)
NYMEX Henry Hub 120,000 $ 6.00 $ 7.25  (36)

            
All gas collars 19,020,000       $ 8,223 
 
Natural Gas Liquid Contracts
 
Natural Gas Liquid Swaps       

Contract Period Volumes  

Weighted-
Average
Contract

Price  

Fair Value at
June 30, 2009

Asset  
 (Bbls)  (per Bbl)  (In thousands)  
       
Third quarter 2009 217,000 $ 41.46 $ 1,710 
Fourth quarter 2009 70,000 $ 45.95  872 
2010 140,000 $ 49.59  2,403 
2011 20,000 $ 49.01  300 
         
All natural gas liquid swaps 447,000    $ 5,285 
 

Refer to Note 8 – Derivative Financial Instruments in Part I, Item 1 of this report for additional information regarding our oil and gas hedges.
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Summary of Interest Rate Risk
 

Market risk is estimated as the potential change in fair value resulting from an immediate hypothetical one percentage point parallel shift in the yield curve.  For fixed-rate
debt, interest rate changes affect the fair market value but do not impact results of operations or cash flows.  Conversely, interest rate changes for floating-rate debt generally do not
affect the fair market value but do impact future results of operations and cash flows, assuming other factors are held constant.  The carrying amount of our floating-rate debt
typically approximates its fair value.  We had $275.0 million of floating-rate debt outstanding as of June 30, 2009.  Our fixed-rate debt outstanding, net of debt discount, at this
same date was $262.7 million.
 
Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements
 

As part of our ongoing business, we have not participated in transactions that generate relationships with unconsolidated entities or financial partnerships, such as entities
often referred to as structured finance or special purpose entities, which would have been established for the purpose of facilitating off-balance sheet arrangements or other
contractually narrow or limited purposes.  As of June 30, 2009, we have not been involved in any unconsolidated SPE transactions.
 

We evaluate our transactions to determine if any variable interest entities exist.  If it is determined that we are the primary beneficiary of a variable interest entity, that
entity is consolidated into our consolidated financial statements.
 
Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates
 

We refer you to the corresponding section in Part II, Item 7 of our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2008, and to the footnote disclosures
included in Part I, Item 1 of this report.
 
New Accounting Pronouncements
 

Please see Note 3 – Recent Accounting Pronouncements, Note 7 – Long-term Debt, Note 8 – Derivative Financial Instruments, and Note 11 – Fair Value Measurements
under Part I, Item 1 of this report for new accounting matters.
 
Environmental
 

St. Mary’s compliance with applicable environmental regulations has to date not resulted in significant capital expenditures or material adverse effects on our liquidity or
results of operations.  We believe we are in substantial compliance with environmental regulations and do not currently anticipate that material future expenditures will be required
under the existing regulatory framework.  However, we are unable to predict the impact that compliance with future laws or regulations, such as those currently being considered as
discussed below, may have on future capital expenditures, liquidity, and results of operations.
 

The U.S. Congress is currently considering legislation that would amend the Safe Drinking Water Act to eliminate an existing exemption from federal regulation of
hydraulic fracturing activities.  Hydraulic fracturing is a common process in our industry of creating artificial cracks, or fractures, in deep underground rock formations through the
pressurized injection of water, sand and other additives to enable oil or natural gas to move more easily through the rock pores to a production well.  This process is often necessary
to produce commercial quantities of oil and natural gas from many reservoirs, especially shale rock formations.  Our Eagle Ford, Haynesville, Marcellus and Woodford shale
programs utilize or contemplate the utilization of hydraulic fracturing.  Currently, regulation of hydraulic fracturing is primarily conducted at the state level through permitting and
other compliance requirements.  If adopted, the proposed amendment to the Safe Drinking Water Act could result in additional regulations and permitting requirements at the
federal level.  Those additional regulations and permitting requirements, as well as other
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regulatory developments at the state level, could lead to significant operational delays and increased operating costs, and make it more difficult to perform hydraulic fracturing.
 

The U.S. House of Representatives recently passed the American Clean Energy and Security Act of 2009, which would establish a federal cap-and-trade system whereby
major sources of greenhouse gas emissions would be required to acquire emission allowances, which could be done through purchases at auctions or through trades with other
allowance holders, and then surrender the allowances to the government.  If a regulated party could not acquire sufficient allowances or reduce its emissions to the level of
allowances that it did acquire, the party would face regulatory penalties.  This legislation would initially cover electrical generation facilities and would phase in coverage of other
industrial sources of emissions and natural gas and fossil fuel distribution.  If this or similar legislation is enacted into law, or if any other program to tax the emission of greenhouse
gases is adopted, it could have a material adverse effect on our operations through significant increases in operating costs and decreases in the demand for oil and natural gas.
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Cautionary Information about Forward-Looking Statements
 

This Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q contains “forward-looking statements” within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933 and Section 21E of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934.  All statements, other than statements of historical facts, included in this Form 10-Q that address activities, events, or developments with respect
to our financial condition, results of operations, or economic performance that we expect, believe, or anticipate will or may occur in the future, or that address plans and
objectives of management for future operations, are forward-looking statements.  The words “anticipate,” “assume,” “believe,” “budget,” “estimate,” “expect,” “forecast,”
“intend,” “plan,” “project,” “will,” and similar expressions are intended to identify forward-looking statements.  Forward-looking statements appear in a number of places in
this Form 10-Q, and include statements about such matters as:
 

·     The amount and nature of future capital expenditures and the availability of liquidity and capital resources to fund capital expenditures
 

·     The drilling of wells and other exploration and development activities and plans, as well as possible future acquisitions
 

·     Reserve estimates and the estimates of both future net revenues and the present value of future net revenues that are included in their calculation
 

·     Future oil and natural gas production estimates
 

·     Our outlook on future oil and natural gas prices and service costs
 

·     Cash flows, anticipated liquidity, and the future repayment of debt
 

·     Business strategies and other plans and objectives for future operations, including plans for expansion and growth of operations or to defer capital investment, and
our outlook on our future financial condition or results of operations

 
·     Other similar matters such as those discussed in the “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” section of this

Form 10-Q.
 

Our forward-looking statements are based on assumptions and analyses made by us in light of our experience and our perception of historical trends, current conditions,
expected future developments, and other factors that we believe are appropriate under the circumstances.  These statements are subject to a number of known and unknown risks
and uncertainties which may cause our actual results and performance to be materially different from any future results or performance expressed or implied by the forward-
looking statements.  These risks are described in the “Risk Factors” section of our 2008 Annual Report on Form 10-K and this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, and include such
factors as:
 

·     The volatility and level of realized oil and natural gas prices
 

·     A contraction in demand for oil and natural gas as a result of adverse general economic conditions
 

·     The availability of economically attractive exploration, development, and property acquisition opportunities and any necessary financing, including constraints on
the availability of opportunities and financing due to currently distressed capital and credit market conditions

 
·     Our ability to replace reserves and sustain production

 
·     Unexpected drilling conditions and results
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·     Unsuccessful exploration and development drilling
 

·     The risks of hedging strategies, including the possibility of realizing lower prices on oil and gas sales as a result of commodity price risk management activities
 

·     The uncertain nature of the expected benefits from acquisitions and divestitures of oil and natural gas properties, including uncertainties in evaluating oil and
natural gas reserves of acquired properties and associated potential liabilities

 
·     The imprecise nature of oil and natural gas reserve estimates

 
·     Uncertainties inherent in projecting future rates of production from drilling activities and acquisitions

 
·     Declines in the values of our oil and natural gas properties resulting in impairment charges and write-downs

 
·     The ability of purchasers of production to pay for amounts purchased

 
·     Drilling and operating service availability

 
·     Uncertainties in cash flow

 
·     The financial strength of hedge contract counterparties and credit facility participants, and the risk that one or more of these parties may not satisfy their

contractual commitments
 

·     The negative impact that lower oil and natural gas prices could have on our ability to borrow and fund capital expenditures
 

·     The potential effects of increased levels of debt financing
 

·     Our ability to compete effectively against other independent and major oil and natural gas companies and
 

·     Litigation, environmental matters, the potential impact of government regulations, and the use of management estimates.
 

We caution you that forward-looking statements are not guarantees of future performance and that actual results or performance may be materially different from those
expressed or implied in the forward-looking statements.  Although we may from time to time voluntarily update our prior forward-looking statements, we disclaim any commitment
to do so except as required by securities laws.
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ITEM 3.  QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK
 

The information required by this item is provided under the captions Commodity Price Risk and Interest Rate Risk, Summary of Oil and Gas Production Hedges in Place,
and Summary of Interest Rate Risk in Item 2 above and is incorporated herein by reference.
 
ITEM 4.  CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES
 

We maintain a system of disclosure controls and procedures that is designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed in our SEC reports is recorded, processed,
summarized, and reported within the time periods specified in the SEC’s rules and forms, and to ensure that such information is accumulated and communicated to our
management, including the Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Financial Officer, as appropriate, to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.
 

We carried out an evaluation, under the supervision and with the participation of our management, including the Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Financial Officer,
of the effectiveness of the design and operation of our disclosure controls and procedures as of the end of the period covered by the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q.  Based upon
that evaluation, the Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Financial Officer, concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures are effective for the purposes discussed above as
of the end of the period covered by this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q.  There was no change in our internal control over financial reporting that occurred during our most recent
fiscal quarter that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting.
 
PART II.  OTHER INFORMATION
 
ITEM 1A.  RISK FACTORS
 

There have been no material changes from the risk factors as previously disclosed in our Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2008, in response to Item 1A of
Part I of such Form 10-K, except as follows:
 

Proposed legislation to eliminate or reduce certain federal income tax incentives and deductions available to oil and gas exploration and production companies could, if
enacted into law, have a material adverse effect on our results of operations and cash flows.
 

On April 23, 2009, the “Oil Industry Tax Break Repeal Act of 2009” was introduced in the U.S. Senate.  This bill proposes amendments to the Internal Revenue Code of
1986 to eliminate or reduce certain federal income tax incentives and deductions currently available to oil and gas exploration and production companies.  The proposed
amendments include the elimination or reduction of current deductions for intangible drilling and development costs, percentage depletion allowances, and the manufacturing
deduction for oil and gas properties.  If some or all of these provisions are enacted into law, our effective tax rate and current income tax expense will increase, potentially
significantly, which would reduce cash flows from operating activities and in turn reduce cash available for drilling and other exploration and development activities.
 
ITEM 2.                      UNREGISTERED SALES OF EQUITY SECURITIES AND USE OF PROCEEDS
 
         
(c)

The following table provides information about purchases by the Company or any “affiliated purchaser” (as defined in Rule 10b-18(a)(3) under the Exchange Act) during
the fiscal quarter ended June 30, 2009, of shares of the Company’s common stock, which is the sole class of equity securities registered by the Company pursuant to
Section 12 of the Exchange Act.
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PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES BY ISSUER
AND AFFILIATED PURCHASERS

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Period

(a)
 
 
 
 
Total Number of
Shares Purchased (1)  

 
(b)
 
 
 
 
Average Price Paid
per Share  

(c)
 
 
Total Number of
Shares Purchased as
Part of Publicly
Announced
Program  

(d)
 
 
Maximum Number
of Shares that May
Yet Be Purchased
Under the Program
(2)

04/01/09 –04/30/09 253 $ 17.65 -0- 3,072,184
05/01/09 – 05/31/09 88 $ 21.66 -0- 3,072,184
06/01/09 – 06/30/09 - $ - -0- 3,072,184

Total: 341 $ 18.69 -0- 3,072,184
 

(1)  Includes 341 shares withheld (under the terms of grants under the Equity Incentive Compensation Plan) to offset tax withholding obligations that occur upon the delivery
of outstanding shares underlying restricted stock units.

 
         
(2)

In July 2006 the Company’s Board of Directors approved an increase in the number of shares that may be repurchased under the original August 1998 authorization to
6,000,000 as of the effective date of the resolution.  Accordingly, as of the date of this filing, the Company has Board authorization to repurchase 3,072,184 shares of
common stock on a prospective basis.  The shares may be repurchased from time to time in open market transactions or privately negotiated transactions, subject to
market conditions and other factors, including certain provisions of St. Mary’s existing bank credit facility agreement and compliance with securities laws.  Stock
repurchases may be funded with existing cash balances, internal cash flow, and borrowings under St. Mary’s bank credit facility. The stock repurchase program may be
suspended or discontinued at any time.

 
The payment of dividends and stock repurchases are subject to covenants in our bank credit facility, including the requirement that we maintain certain levels of
stockholders’ equity and the limitation that does not allow our annual dividend rate to exceed $0.25 per share.
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ITEM 4.  SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TO A VOTE OF SECURITY HOLDERS
 

At the Company’s annual stockholders’ meeting on May 20, 2009, the stockholders elected management’s current slate of directors and approved the two additional
proposals described below. Each director was elected by a majority vote.  The directors elected and the vote tabulation for each director were as follows:
 
Director For Withheld
Barbara M. Baumann 39,963,671 19,312,709
Anthony J. Best 55,919,083 3,357,297
Larry W. Bickle 55,714,283 3,562,097
William J. Gardiner 57,705,224 1,571,156
Julio M. Quintana 57,744,292 1,532,088
John M. Seidl 55,906,313 3,370,067
William D. Sullivan 57,484,287 1,792,093
 

The stockholders also approved the proposal to approve amendments to the 2006 Equity Incentive Compensation Plan, which as part of the amendments was renamed
the Equity Incentive Compensation Plan (the “Plan”), to increase the number of shares available for issuance under the Plan and to change the fungible share counting provisions
of the Plan to provide that “full share awards” under the Plan, which are awards other than stock options or stock appreciation rights, made after May 20, 2009, will be counted
against the total share authorization limit as 1.43 shares for every one share issued.
 
For 37,889,664
Against 13,061,573
Abstain 952,531
Non Votes 7,372,612
 

The stockholders also approved the proposal to ratify the appointment by the Audit Committee of Deloitte & Touche, LLP as the Company’s independent registered
public accounting firm.  The proposal was approved by a majority vote.  The tabulation of votes for that proposal was as follows:
 
For 57,504,724
Against 1,746,297
Abstain 25,359
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ITEM 5.  OTHER INFORMATION
 

We have elected to include the following information in this Form 10-Q in lieu of reporting it in a separately filed Form 8-K.  This information would otherwise have
been reported in a Form 8-K under the heading “Item 5.02 Departure of Directors or Certain Officers; Election of Directors; Appointment of Certain Officers; Compensatory
Arrangements of Certain Officers.”
 
Compensatory Arrangements of Certain Officers
 

On August 1, 2009, the Company granted awards (the “2009 Awards”) of performance shares and restricted stock units (“RSUs”) pursuant to the Company’s long term
incentive program (“LTIP”) under the Company’s Equity Incentive Compensation Plan, as amended and restated as of March 26, 2009 (the “Plan”), to various employees of the
Company selected to participate in the LTIP, including the named executive officers of the Company listed below.  The grants of the performance shares and RSUs were approved
by the Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors of the Company.  The following table sets forth the number of performance shares and RSUs that were granted to the
Company’s Chief Executive Officer, Chief Financial Officer, and the other executive officers of the Company for whom compensation disclosure was required in the Company's
most recent proxy statement filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission.
 

Name and Position
Number of

Performance Shares  

Number of
Restricted Stock

Units
Anthony J. Best, President and Chief Executive Officer 52,500 17,500
A. Wade Pursell, Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer 28,500 9,500
Mark T. Solomon, Controller 5,437 1,813
Milam Randolph Pharo, Senior Vice President and General Counsel 10,875 3,625
Paul M. Veatch, Senior Vice President and Regional Manager 16,500 5,500
David J. Whitcomb, Vice President - Marketing 9,075 3,025
 

The performance shares represent the right to receive, upon settlement of the award after completion of the performance period, a number of shares of the Company’s
common stock that may be from zero (0) to two (2.0) times the number of performance shares granted on the award date, depending on the extent to which the Company’s
performance criteria have been achieved and the extent to which the performance shares have vested.
 

The performance criteria for the calculation of the actual number of shares to be issued upon settlement of the award is a combination of (i) the absolute measure of
the total shareholder return (“TSR”) over the performance period and the associated compound annual growth rate (“CAGR”) of the Company for the performance period, and (ii)
the relative measure of the Company’s TSR and CAGR for the performance period compared with the TSR and CAGR of the Company’s peer companies for the performance
period, as reflected in a peer group index.  The performance criteria are reflected in a payout matrix, which is used to determine the final number of shares, if any, to be awarded
upon settlement of the performance shares to a 2009 Award recipient and is attached to the Performance Share and Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement, a form of which is
filed as Exhibit 10.5 hereto (the “Award Agreement”).
 

The performance period for the performance shares began on July 1, 2009 and will end on June 30, 2012.  The performance share awards granted in the 2009 will vest
1/7th on August 1, 2010, 2/7ths on August 1, 2011, and 4/7ths on August 1, 2012.  Except as described below, shares issued upon settlement of vested performance shares will settle
on or about August 1, 2012.
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Each RSU represents the right to receive one share of the Company’s common stock to be delivered upon settlement of the vested RSU.  The RSUs will vest 1/7th on

August 1, 2010, 2/7ths on August 1, 2011, and 4/7ths on August 1, 2012.  Except as described below, for each vested portion of the RSUs, the settlement date will be the same date
as the vesting date.
 

Except under certain circumstances described in the Award Agreement, if a 2009 Award recipient ceases to be an employee of the Company prior to the vesting of all of
the performance shares or RSUs awarded in the 2009 Award, any remaining unvested performance shares or RSUs under the 2009 Award shall be forfeited.
 

The performance shares and RSUs of a 2009 Award recipient shall become fully vested in the event of a Change of Control Termination (as defined in the Award
Agreement) with respect to such 2009 Award recipient’s employment with the Company that occurs (i) within thirty months of a Change of Control (as defined in the Plan) of the
Company and (ii) with respect to the performance shares, prior to the normal completion of vesting of the performance shares at the end of the performance period, or, with respect
to the RSUs, prior to the normal completion of the vesting of the RSUs.  In such case, with respect to the performance shares, the performance period used to determine the extent
to which the performance criteria have been achieved shall be shortened to end as of the effective date of the Change of Control.  Any shares that such recipient has earned under
the 2009 Award shall be settled in shares or in cash of equivalent value within thirty days following the effective date of the Change of Control Termination.
 

The foregoing description of the Award Agreements does not purport to be complete and is qualified in its entirety by reference to the form of Award Agreement, a copy
of which is filed as Exhibit 10.5 hereto and incorporated herein by reference.  A form of the Performance Share and Restricted Stock Unit Award Notice to participants is filed as
Exhibit 10.6 hereto and is incorporated herein by reference.
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ITEM 6.  EXHIBITS
 

The following exhibits are filed or furnished with or incorporated by reference into this report:
 
Exhibit Description
10.1 Third Amended and Restated Credit Agreement dated April 14, 2009 among St. Mary Land & Exploration Company,

Wachovia Bank, National Association, as Administrative Agent, and the Lenders party thereto (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the
registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on April 20, 2009, and incorporated herein by reference)
 

10.2 Supplement and Amendment to Deed of Trust, Mortgage, Line of Credit Mortgage, Assignment, Security Agreement, Fixture
Filing and Financing Statement for the benefit of Wachovia Bank, National Association, as Administrative Agent, dated
effective as of April 14, 2009 (filed as Exhibit 10.2 to the registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on April 20, 2009,
and incorporated herein by reference)
 

10.3 Deed of Trust to Wachovia Bank, National Association, as Administrative Agent, dated effective as of April 14, 2009 (filed as
Exhibit 10.3 to the registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on April 20, 2009, and incorporated herein by reference)
 

10.4† Equity Incentive Compensation Plan as Amended and Restated as of March 26, 2009 (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the
registrant’s  Current Report on Form 8-K filed on May 27, 2009)
 

10.5*† St. Mary Land & Exploration Company Form of Performance Share and Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement
 

10.6*† St. Mary Land & Exploration Company Form of Performance Share and Restricted Stock Unit Award Notice
 

31.1* Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes – Oxley Act of 2002
 

31.2* Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes – Oxley Act of 2002
 

32.1** Certification pursuant to U.S.C. Section 1350 as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes – Oxley Act of 2002
 

*         Filed with this report.
**       Furnished with this report.
†         Exhibit constitutes a management contract or compensatory plan or agreement.
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SIGNATURES
 

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned hereunto duly
authorized.
 

ST. MARY LAND & EXPLORATION COMPANY
 
August 4, 2009 By:    /s/ ANTHONY J. BEST                                                      
  Anthony J. Best
  President and Chief Executive Officer
   
August 4, 2009 By:    /s/ A. WADE PURSELL                                           
  A. Wade Pursell
  Executive Vice President and Chief Financial
  Officer
   
August 4, 2009 By:    /s/ MARK T. SOLOMON                                           
  Mark T. Solomon
  Controller
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EXHIBIT 10.5

ST. MARY LAND & EXPLORATION COMPANY

PERFORMANCE SHARE AND RESTRICTED STOCK UNIT AWARD AGREEMENT

This Performance Share and Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement (the “Agreement”) is made effective as of [Award Date]1 (the “Award Date”), by and between St.
Mary Land & Exploration Company, a Delaware corporation (the “Company”), and [Name of Participant] (the “Participant”) to whom performance shares and restricted stock
units have been awarded pursuant to the Company’s long term incentive program (“LTIP”) under the St. Mary Land & Exploration Company Equity Incentive Compensation Plan,
as amended (the “Plan”).
 

Pursuant to the terms of the Plan and this Agreement, as of the Award Date the Company has made an award (the “Award”) to the Participant of [Amount] performance
shares (the “Performance Shares”) and [Amount] restricted stock units (the “Units”).  Capitalized terms used but not defined in this Agreement shall have the meanings given to
them in the Plan.
 

ARTICLE I
 

PERFORMANCE SHARES
 

1.1  Performance Shares and Performance Period.  The Performance Shares represent the right to receive, upon the settlement of the Performance Shares
pursuant to Section 1.4 hereof after the completion of the Performance Period (as defined below), a number of shares of the Company’s common stock, $.01 par value per share
(St. Mary common stock is sometimes referred to herein as the “Common Stock”), that will be calculated as set forth in Section 1.2 below based on the extent to which the
Company’s Performance Criteria (as defined in Section 1.2) have been achieved and the extent to which the Performance Shares have vested.  Any Common Stock that issues
pursuant to any provision of this Agreement may be referred to in this Agreement as a “Share” or “Shares.”  Such actual number of Shares that may be issued upon settlement of
the Performance Shares may be from zero (0) to two (2.0) times the number of Performance Shares granted on the Award Date.  The number of Performance Shares granted herein
may be referred to as the “target” number of Shares.  The performance period for the Performance Shares shall be the three-year period set forth in the Performance Share and
Restricted Stock Unit Award Notice (the “Award Notice”) attached hereto (the “Performance Period”).
 

1.2  Determination of Number of Shares Earned.
 

(a)  Performance Criteria.  The actual number of Shares that may be earned from the Performance Shares and issued upon settlement of the
Performance Shares after completion of the Performance Period shall be based upon the Company’s achievement of performance criteria (the “Performance Criteria”)
established by

 
____________________________________
 
1 Items in brackets are features that may vary among individual awards.

 
 
 

 
 



 
 
the Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors of the Company (the “Committee”) for the Performance Period in accordance with the terms of the Plan and as set
forth below and reflected in the payout matrix (the “Payout Matrix”) attached as Appendix A hereto and discussed further in subsection (d) hereof.  The Performance
Criteria for the calculation of the actual number of Shares to be issued upon settlement of the Performance Shares as reflected in the Payout Matrix are based on a
combination of (i) the absolute measure of the cumulative total shareholder return (“TSR”) and associated Compound Annual Growth Rate (“CAGR”) of the Company for
the Performance Period, and (ii) the relative measure of the Company’s TSR and CAGR for the Performance Period compared with the cumulative TSR and CAGR of the
Peer Companies (as defined below) for the Performance Period as reflected in the St. Mary Performance Share Plan Peer Group Custom Index (the “Custom Index”) to be
specifically prepared by Standard & Poor’s, a division of The McGraw-Hill Companies, Inc. (“S&P”), for the purpose of administering the LTIP.

 
(b)  Calculation of TSR and CAGR.  The TSR and CAGR of the Company and the Peer Companies for the Performance Period shall be

calculated in accordance with the methodology utilized by S&P with respect to the Custom Index.
 

(c)  Peer Companies and Custom Index.  The “Peer Companies” to be reflected in the Custom Index shall consist of the constituents of the Oil &
Gas Exploration & Production GIC Sub-Industry Group in the S&P SmallCap 600 Index and the S&P MidCap 400 Index, excluding the Company.  The Custom Index will
be equal weighted, and will be adjusted to include the dividend payments of the constituents of the Custom Index.  The Custom Index will be rebalanced on a quarterly
basis, and will also be rebalanced whenever there are additions and deletions to the S&P SmallCap 600 and the S&P MidCap 400 indices.  The Custom Index is the
exclusive property of S&P.  The Company has contracted with S&P to maintain and calculate the Custom Index.  S&P shall have no liability for any errors or omissions in
calculating the Custom Index.

 
(d)  Payout Matrix.  The Payout Matrix attached as Appendix A hereto sets forth the possible multipliers, which range from zero percent (0%)

to two hundred percent (200%), which may be applied to the number of vested Performance Shares to determine the actual number of Shares to be issued upon settlement
of the vested Performance Shares after the completion of the Performance Period.  The final multiplier (the “Final Multiplier”) shall be determined by the Committee after
the completion of the Performance Period based on the two variables that comprise the Performance Criteria, related to (i) the Company’s TSR and CAGR for the
Performance Period, and (ii) the Peer Companies’ TSR and CAGR for the Performance Period as reflected in the Custom Index.  The number of Shares, if any, that shall be
issued to the Participant upon settlement of the Performance Shares shall be calculated as the number of Performance Shares that have vested in accordance with Section
1.3 or Section 1.6 hereof, multiplied by the Final Multiplier, as determined by the Committee in accordance with the Payout Matrix.  There shall be no rounding of variables
or extrapolation of variables between data points within the Payout Matrix, and the data point for which the associated variables equal or exceed the target variables for such
data point, but do not result in qualification for another higher data point, shall be utilized with respect to the Final

 
2

 
 
 



 
 

Multiplier.  Any fractional Shares which would otherwise result from application of the Final Multiplier shall be rounded up to the nearest whole share of Common Stock.
 

1.3  Vesting of Performance Shares.
 

(a)  Vesting.  Subject to the provisions contained herein, the Performance Shares shall vest over the Performance Period as set forth in the
vesting schedule for Performance Shares contained in the attached Award Notice (the “PSA Vesting Schedule”).  As of the Award Date, the Participant is an employee of
the Company or a subsidiary thereof.  If the Participant ceases to be an employee of the Company or a subsidiary thereof prior to the vesting of all of the Performance
Shares pursuant to the PSA Vesting Schedule, the Participant shall forfeit the remaining unvested Performance Shares under the Award, except as otherwise provided in
this Section 1.3 and Section 1.6.

 
(b)  Continued Vesting Upon Early Retirement.  The Performance Shares shall, notwithstanding any other provisions of this Section 1.3,

continue to vest according to the PSA Vesting Schedule after the termination of the Participant’s employment with the Company or a subsidiary thereof if (i) such
termination is the result of the Participant’s retirement from the Company or a subsidiary thereof upon the Participant’s having both reached the age of sixty (60) and
completed twelve (12) years of service with the Company or a subsidiary thereof, and (ii) the Participant does not after such early retirement become employed on a full-
time basis by a competitor of the Company prior to the earlier of the settlement of the Performance Shares or the Participant’s reaching the age of sixty-five (65).  Any such
continued vesting of the Performance Shares pursuant to this Section 1.3(b) will not result in an acceleration of the PSA Settlement Date (as defined in Section 1.4), since
the number of Shares earned from the Performance Shares shall be calculated after the completion of the Performance Period.

 
(c)  Acceleration Upon Death, Total Disability or Normal Retirement.  The Performance Shares shall become fully vested, notwithstanding any

other provisions of this Section 1.3, upon termination of the Participant’s employment with the Company or a subsidiary thereof because of death, Total Disability (as
defined below), or retirement upon reaching the Company’s normal retirement age of sixty-five (65).  Any such acceleration of the vesting of the Performance Shares
pursuant to this Section 1.3(c) will not result in an acceleration of the PSA Settlement Date, since the number of Shares earned from the Performance Shares shall be
calculated after the completion of the Performance Period.  For purposes of this Agreement, “Total Disability” means a medically determinable physical or mental
impairment that can be expected to result in death or can be expected to last for a continuous period of not less than 12 months, by reason of which the Participant is unable
to engage in any substantial gainful activity or is receiving income replacement benefits for a period of not less than three months under an accident and health plan
covering employees of the Company.

 
(d)  Termination for Cause.  Notwithstanding any other provisions of this Section 1.3, the Participant shall forfeit all Performance Shares under

this Award,
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including those that have previously vested, upon the termination of the employment of the Participant by the Company or a subsidiary thereof for Cause (as defined below)
prior to the completion of the Performance Period. As used in this Agreement with respect to the Performance Shares, the term Cause shall have the meaning defined in
Section 1.6(a),and shall also include the termination of the employment of the Participant by the Company or a subsidiary thereof due to the Participant’s having committed
(i) a wrongful taking of money, property, goods, services, or other items of value from the Company, whether or not such wrongful taking is prosecuted in a civil or
criminal proceeding, (ii) any act of fraud or willful misconduct in connection with the performance of the Participant’s duties for the Company, or (iii) a significant violation
of the Company’s written policies and procedures, in each case which is demonstrably harmful to the Company.

 
1.4  Settlement of Performance Shares.  Following the last day of the Performance Period and prior to the PSA Settlement Date, the Committee shall determine,

and certify in writing to the extent deemed necessary or advisable or as required to comply with Section 162(m) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the
“Code”), (i) the extent to which the Performance Criteria have been achieved over the Performance Period, and (ii) the Final Multiplier.  The Final Multiplier shall then be applied
to the number of vested Performance Shares to determine the number of Shares (the “Earned Shares”), if any, to be issued to the Participant in settlement of the Performance
Shares.  The determination of the Earned Shares by the Committee shall be binding on the Participant and conclusive for all purposes.  The Earned Shares, if any, shall be issued to
the Participant in settlement of the Performance Shares on or about the settlement date set forth in the attached Award Notice (the “PSA Settlement Date”).  Upon the settlement of
the Performance Shares, the Company shall deliver to the Participant evidence of book-entry Shares or a certificate for the number of Shares issued to the Participant in settlement
of the Performance Shares.  The Earned Shares shall not be subject to any holding or transfer restrictions after settlement of the Performance Shares.
 

1.5  Transfer Restrictions for Unsettled Performance Shares.  Performance Shares that have not been settled shall not be transferable by the Participant, and the
Participant shall not be permitted to sell, transfer, pledge, assign, or otherwise alienate or encumber such Performance Shares or the Shares issuable in settlement thereof, other
than (i) to the person or persons to whom the Participant’s rights under such Performance Shares pass by will or the laws of descent and distribution, (ii) to the spouse or the
descendants of the Participant or to trusts for such persons to whom or which the Participant may transfer such Performance Shares by gift, (iii) to the legal representative of any of
the foregoing, or (iv) pursuant to a qualified domestic relations order as defined under Section 414(p) of the Code or similar order or agreement relating to the provision of child
support, alimony payments, or marital property rights to a spouse, former spouse, child, or other dependent of the Participant.  Any such transfer shall be made only in compliance
with the Securities Act of 1933 and the requirements therefor as set forth by the Company.  Any attempted transfer in contravention of the foregoing provisions shall be null and
void and of no effect.
 

1.6  Change of Control Termination.
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(a)  Vesting upon Change of Control Termination.  Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement, the Performance Shares shall
become fully vested upon a Change of Control Termination.  For purposes of this Agreement, a “Change of Control Termination” occurs upon the termination of the
Participant’s employment with the Company or a subsidiary thereof in the event that (i) a Change of Control (as defined in the Plan) of the Company occurs, and (ii) the
Participant’s employment with the Company or a subsidiary thereof is subsequently terminated without Cause (as defined below) or the Participant terminates his or her
employment with the Company or a subsidiary thereof for Good Reason (as defined below), and such termination of employment occurs (x) within 30 months of the Change
of Control and (y) with respect to Performance Shares, prior to the normal completion of vesting of the Performance Shares at the end of the Performance Period, or, with
respect to Units, prior to the normal completion of vesting of the Units.  The normal vesting and settlement provisions in Article I of this Agreement shall not be affected by
the first sentence of this subsection if a Change of Control of the Company occurs but there is not also a Change of Control Termination with respect to the Participant’s
employment with the Company or a subsidiary thereof.  If the Participant has entered into a separate written Change of Control Executive Severance Agreement or Change
of Control Severance Agreement (with either to be subsequently referred to herein as a “Change of Control Severance Agreement”) with the Company, the terms “Cause”
and “Good Reason” used herein shall have the meanings set forth in such Change of Control Severance Agreement, with the definition of the term “Cause” to be as
modified in Section 1.3(d) of this Agreement.  If the Participant has not entered into a separate written Change of Control Severance Agreement, the terms “Cause” and
“Good Reason” used herein shall have the meanings set forth in the St. Mary Land & Exploration Company Change of Control Severance Plan (the “Change of Control
Severance Plan”), with the definition of the term “Cause” to be as modified in Section 1.3(d) of this Agreement.

 
(b)  Settlement upon Change of Control Termination.  Notwithstanding any other provisions of this Agreement to the contrary, in the event of a

Change of Control Termination with respect to the Participant’s employment with the Company or a subsidiary thereof as set forth in Section 1.6(a) above, the vested
Performance Shares shall be settled in accordance with this Section 1.6(b).  In the event of a Change of Control Termination, the Committee shall determine the extent to
which the Performance Criteria have been achieved and the Final Multiplier to apply to the vested Performance Shares by utilizing the same method as set forth in Section
1.2 hereof; provided, however, that the Performance Period for the calculation of the TSR and CAGR of the Company and the Peer Companies to obtain the Final Multiplier
shall be shortened to end as of the effective date of the Change of Control.  The Final Multiplier shall then be applied to the number of vested Performance Shares to
calculate the number of Earned Shares, if any, that the Participant is entitled to in settlement of the Performance Shares.  In the event of a Change of Control Termination,
any Earned Shares shall be paid to the Participant in settlement of the Performance Shares either in Shares or in cash of equivalent value, as determined by the Committee
or other duly authorized administrator of the Plan, in its discretion, within thirty (30) days following the effective date of the Change of Control Termination.
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(c)  Controlling Documents for Change of Control Termination.  To the extent that the Participant is subject to either a written Change of

Control Severance Agreement or the Change of Control Severance Plan, the terms and conditions of such Change of Control Severance Agreement or Change of Control
Severance Plan, as applicable, shall also apply to this Award in the event of a Change of Control Termination; provided, however, that with respect to the Performance
Shares under this Award, the terms of the Plan and this Agreement shall control in the event of any inconsistency between their terms and the terms of the Change of
Control Severance Agreement or the Change of Control Severance Plan.

 
ARTICLE II

 
RESTRICTED STOCK UNITS

 
2.1  Units.  Each Unit represents the right to receive one Share of Common Stock to be delivered upon settlement of the Units as set forth in Section 2.3 below,

subject to the terms and conditions set forth in the Plan and this Agreement.
 

2.2  Vesting of Units.
 

(a)  Vesting.  Subject to the provisions contained herein, the Units shall vest as set forth in the vesting schedule for Units contained in the
attached Award Notice (the “RSU Vesting Schedule”).  As of the Award Date, the Participant is an employee of the Company or a subsidiary thereof.  If the Participant
ceases to be an employee of the Company or a subsidiary thereof prior to the vesting of all of the Units pursuant to the RSU Vesting Schedule, the Participant shall forfeit
the remaining unvested Units under the Award, except as otherwise provided in this Section 2.2 and Section 2.5.

 
(b)  Continued Vesting Upon Early Retirement.  The Units shall, notwithstanding any other provisions of this Section 2.2, continue to vest

according to the RSU Vesting Schedule after the termination of the Participant’s employment with the Company or a subsidiary thereof if (i) such termination is the result
of the Participant’s retirement from the Company or a subsidiary thereof upon the Participant’s having both reached the age of sixty (60) and completed twelve (12) years
of service with the Company or a subsidiary thereof, and (ii) the Participant does not after such early retirement become employed on a full-time basis by a competitor of
the Company prior to the earlier of the settlement of the Units or the Participant’s reaching the age of sixty-five (65).

 
(c)  Acceleration Upon Death, Total Disability or Normal Retirement.  The Units shall become fully vested, notwithstanding any other

provisions of this Section 2.2, upon termination of the Participant’s employment with the Company or a subsidiary thereof because of death, Total Disability, or retirement
upon reaching the Company’s normal retirement age of sixty-five (65).  In the event of such acceleration of the vesting of the Units, the RSU Settlement Date (as defined in
Section 2.3) shall also be accelerated to permit prompt settlement of the Units.
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(d)  Termination for Cause.  Notwithstanding any other provisions of this Section 2.2, the Participant shall forfeit any unvested and unsettled

Units under this Award upon the termination of the employment of the Participant by the Company or a subsidiary thereof for cause, which term is specifically not
capitalized as such term was in Sections 1.3(d) and 1.6(a) of this Agreement, it being the specific intent of the Company and the Participant that “cause” in this instance
shall be broadly defined as any event, action, or inaction by the Participant that would reasonably be the basis for an employer to terminate the employment of the affected
individual.

 
2.3  Settlement of Units.  The portion of the Units that vest on a particular vesting installment date as set forth in the RSU Vesting Schedule in the Award Notice

shall be settled on such vesting installment date (the “RSU Settlement Date”), provided that such portion of the Units has not been previously terminated.  Settlement of the vested
Units may be made (a) solely through the issuance of Shares or (b) at the mutual election of the Participant and the Company, in a combination of Shares and cash.  The cash value
of Units settled in cash shall be based on the closing price of a Share as reported on the New York Stock Exchange or other applicable public market on the trading day
corresponding to the RSU Settlement Date.  In no event shall the total value of Unit settlements with the Participant under the Plan during any calendar year exceed the value at the
time of settlement of the maximum number of Shares issuable to any one participant under the Plan during any calendar year pursuant to Section 4.1 of the Plan.  Upon the
settlement of the Units through the issuance of Shares, the Company shall deliver to the Participant evidence of book-entry Shares or a certificate for the number of Shares issued to
the Participant in settlement of the Units.  The Shares shall not be subject to any holding or transfer restrictions after settlement of the Units.  The Participant shall not be permitted
to elect to further defer settlement beyond the RSU Settlement Date pursuant to Section 6.1(b)(ii) of the Plan.
 

2.4  Transfer Restrictions.  Outstanding Units that have not been settled shall not be transferable by the Participant, and the Participant shall not be permitted to
sell, transfer, pledge, assign, or otherwise alienate or encumber such Units or the Shares issuable in settlement thereof, other than (i) to the person or persons to whom the
Participant’s rights under such Units pass by will or the laws of descent and distribution, (ii) to the spouse or the descendants of the Participant or to trusts for such persons to
whom or which the Participant may transfer such Units by gift, (iii) to the legal representative of any of the foregoing, or (iv) pursuant to a qualified domestic relations order as
defined under Section 414(p) of the Code or similar order or agreement relating to the provision of child support, alimony payments, or marital property rights to a spouse, former
spouse, child, or other dependent of the Participant.  Any such transfer shall be made only in compliance with the Securities Act of 1933 and the requirements therefor as set forth
by the Company.  Any attempted transfer in contravention of the foregoing provisions shall be null and void and of no effect.
 

2.5  Change of Control Termination.
 

(a)  Vesting upon Change of Control Termination.  Notwithstanding any other provisions of this Agreement, the Units shall become fully vested
upon a Change of Control Termination (as defined in Section 1.6(a)).  The normal vesting and settlement provisions in Article II of this Agreement shall not be affected by
the
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immediately foregoing sentence if a Change of Control of the Company occurs but there is not also a Change of Control Termination with respect to the Participant’s
employment with the Company or a subsidiary thereof.  For purposes of determining whether a Change of Control Termination has occurred with respect to this section, the
term “Cause” shall be as defined in Section 1.6(a); provided, however, in the context of a Change of Control Termination, the term “Cause” shall be as modified in Section
1.3(d), and not as set forth in Section 2.2(d).

 
(b)  Settlement upon Change of Control Termination.  Notwithstanding any other provisions of this Agreement to the contrary, in the event of a

Change of Control Termination with respect to the Participant’s employment with the Company or a subsidiary thereof as set forth in Section 2.5(a) above, the vested Units
shall be settled either in Shares or in cash of equivalent value, as determined by the Committee or other duly authorized administrator of the Plan, in its discretion, within
thirty (30) days following the effective date of the Change of Control Termination.

 
(c)  Controlling Documents for Change of Control Termination.  To the extent that the Participant is subject to either a written Change of

Control Severance Agreement or the Change of Control Severance Plan, the terms and conditions of such Change of Control Severance Agreement or Change of Control
Severance Plan, as applicable, shall also apply to this Award in the event of a Change of Control Termination; provided, however, that with respect to the Units under this
Award, the terms of the Plan and this Agreement shall control in the event of any inconsistency between their terms and the terms of the Change of Control Severance
Agreement or the Change of Control Severance Plan.

 
 

ARTICLE III
 

GENERAL PROVISIONS
 

3.1  Adjustments Upon Changes in Capitalization.  In the event that a stock split, stock dividend, or other similar change in capitalization of the Company occurs,
the number and kind of Shares that may be issued under this Agreement and that have not yet been issued shall be proportionately and appropriately adjusted.
 

3.2  No Dividend Equivalents or Stockholder Rights Until Shares Issued.  The Performance Shares and Units shall not be credited with Dividend Equivalents.  In
addition, the Participant shall have no voting, transfer, liquidation, or other rights of a holder of Shares with respect to the Performance Shares or Units until such time as Shares, if
any, have been issued by the Company to the Participant in settlement of the Performance Shares or Units.  Until the Performances Shares or Units are settled or terminated, they
will represent only bookkeeping entries by the Company to evidence unfunded and unsecured obligations of the Company.
 

3.3  Notices.  Any notice relating to this Agreement shall be in writing and delivered in person or by mail, fax, or email transmission to the address or addresses
on file with the Company.  Any notice to the Company shall be addressed to it at its principal office, and be specifically directed to the attention of the Secretary.  Anyone to whom
a notice may be given under this Agreement may designate a new address by notice to that effect.
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3.4  Benefits of Agreement.  This Agreement shall inure to the benefit of and be binding upon each successor of the Company and the Participant’s heirs, legal

representatives, and permitted transferees.  This Agreement and the Plan shall be the sole and exclusive source of any and all rights that the Participant and the Participant’s heirs,
legal representatives, and permitted transferees may have with respect to this Award, the Performance Shares and Units, and the Plan.
 

3.5  Resolution of Disputes.  Any dispute or disagreement which arises under, or is a result of, or in any way relates to, the interpretation, construction, or
applicability of this Agreement shall be resolved as determined by the Committee, or the Board of Directors of the Company (the “Board”), or by any other committee appointed
by the Board for such purpose.  Any determination made hereunder shall be final, binding, and conclusive for all purposes.
 

3.6  Controlling Documents.  The provisions of the Plan are hereby incorporated into this Agreement by reference.  In the event of any inconsistency between
this Agreement and the Plan, the Plan shall control.  The provisions of the attached Award Notice are also hereby incorporated into this Agreement by reference.  In the event of
any inconsistency between this Agreement and the Award Notice, this Agreement shall control.
 

3.7  Amendments.  This Agreement may be amended only by a written instrument executed by both the Company and the Participant.
 

3.8  No Right of Participant to Continued Employment.  Nothing contained in this Agreement or the Plan shall confer on the Participant any right to continue to
be employed by the Company or any subsidiary thereof, or shall limit the Company’s right to terminate the employment of the Participant at any time; provided, however, that
nothing contained in this Agreement shall affect any separate contractual provisions that exist between the Participant and the Company or its subsidiaries with respect to the
employment of the Participant.
 

3.9  Vesting Dates and Settlement Dates.  In the event that any vesting date, settlement date, or any other measurement date with respect to this Award, does not
fall on a normal business day, such date shall be deemed to occur on the next following normal business day.
 

3.10    Tax Withholding.  The Company may make such provisions and take such steps as it deems necessary or appropriate for the withholding of any taxes that
the Company is required by law or regulation of any governmental authority, whether Federal, state, or local, to withhold in connection with the Performance Shares, Units, or
Shares subject to this Agreement.  The Participant shall elect, prior to any tax withholding event related to this Award, whether the Participant will satisfy all or part of such tax
withholding requirement by paying the taxes in cash or by having the Company withhold Shares having a fair market value equal to the minimum statutory withholding that may
be imposed on the transaction (based on minimum statutory withholding rates for Federal, state, and local tax purposes, as applicable, that are applicable to such transaction).  The
Participant’s election shall be irrevocable, made in writing, signed by the Participant, and shall be subject to any restrictions or limitations that the Committee, in its sole discretion,
deems appropriate.
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3.11    Compliance with Section 409A of the Code.  Notwithstanding any provision in this Agreement to the contrary, to the extent that this Agreement
constitutes a nonqualified deferred compensation plan or arrangement to which Section 409A of the Code applies, the administration of this Award (including the time and manner
of payments under the Award and this Agreement) shall comply with Section 409A of the Code.
 

3.12    Personal Data.  The Participant hereby consents to the collection, use, and transfer, in electronic or other form, of the Participant’s personal data as
described in this Agreement by and among, as applicable, the Company and its affiliates for the exclusive purpose of implementing, administering, and managing the Participant’s
participation in the Plan.  The Company holds, or may receive from any agent designated by the Company, certain personal information about the Participant, including, but not
limited to, the Participant’s name, home address and telephone number, date of birth, social security insurance number or other identification number, salary, nationality, job title,
any shares of Common Stock held, details of this Award and any other rights to shares of Common Stock awarded, canceled, exercised, vested, unvested, or outstanding in the
Participant’s favor, for the purpose of implementing, administering, and managing the Plan, including complying with applicable tax and securities laws (the “Personal
Data”).  The Personal Data may be transferred to any third parties assisting in the implementation, administration, and management of the Plan.  The Participant authorizes such
recipients of the Personal Data to receive, possess, use, retain, and transfer the Personal Data, in electronic or other form, for the purposes described above.  The Participant may, at
any time, view the Personal Data, request additional information about the storage and processing of the Personal Data, require any necessary amendments to the Personal Data, or
refuse or withdraw the consents herein, in any case without cost, by contacting the Secretary of the Company in writing.  Any such refusal or withdrawal of the consents herein
may affect the Participant’s ability to participate in the Plan.
 

3.13    Electronic Delivery of Documents.  The Company may, in its sole discretion, deliver any documents related to this Award, or any future awards that may
be granted under the Plan, by electronic means, or request the Participant’s consent to participate in the Plan or other authorizations from the Participant in connection therewith by
electronic means.  The Participant hereby consents to receive such documents by electronic delivery and, if requested, to participate in the Plan through an on-line or electronic
system established and maintained by the Company or another third party designated by the Company.
 

3.14    Execution and Counterparts.  This Agreement may be executed in counterparts and signature pages may be delivered by email or fax
transmission.  Execution of a written instrument for this Agreement may be evidenced by any appropriate form of electronic signature or affirmative email or other electronic
response attached to or logically associated with such written instrument, which is executed or adopted by a party with an indication of the intention by such party to execute or
adopt such instrument for purposes of execution thereof.
 

*     *     *     *     *
 

[Signature page follows]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Company and the Participant have caused this Performance Share and Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement to be entered into
effective as of the Award Date.
 
COMPANY:

ST. MARY LAND & EXPLORATION COMPANY,
 
a Delaware corporation
 

 
By:  _______________________________________
 
Printed Name:  ______________________________
 
Title:  _____________________________________
 
Date Signed:  _______________________________
 

 
PARTICIPANT:
 

 
Signature: __________________________________
 
Printed Name:  ______________________________
 
Date Signed:  _______________________________
 

 

 

 
Attachment:  Performance Share and Restricted Stock Unit Award Notice
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APPENDIX A

PAYOUT MATRIX FOR PERFORMANCE SHARES
 
Payout matrix is subject to change for Awards granted in subsequent years.

2009 PAYOUT MATRIX           
Simple Matrix - Add result in Column A and Column B           
TOTAL CANNOT BE GREATER THAN 2.0 OR LESS THAN ZERO         
                 
 Column A    Column B             
Absolute St. Mary TSR St. Mary TSR vs Peer Index          

Ann.
TSR

EARNED
MULTIPLIER

 % Point
Deviation

From Peers

 
MULTIPLIER

MODIFIER

          

0%                 -  -10%  (0.80)  TABULAR EXPRESSION OF PAYOUT MATRIX  
1%            0.050  -8%  (0.60)             
2%            0.100  -6%  (0.40)   Percentage Point Deviation From Peer Index
3%            0.150  -4%  (0.20)   -10% -8% -6% -4% -2% 0% 2% 4% 6% 8%
4%            0.200  -2%         -  0%     0   0.20   0.40   0.60   0.80   1.00
5%            0.275  0% (Index

TSR)
  0.20  1%       0.05   0.25   0.45   0.65   0.85   1.05

6%            0.350  +2%   0.40  2%       0.10   0.30   0.50   0.70   0.90   1.10
7%            0.425  +4%   0.60  3%       0.15   0.35   0.55   0.75   0.95   1.15
8%            0.500  +6%   0.80  4%    0   0.20   0.40   0.60   0.80   1.00   1.20
9%            0.575  +8%   1.00  5%      0.08   0.28   0.48   0.68   0.88   1.08   1.28

10%            0.650     6%   0   0.15   0.35   0.55   0.75   0.95   1.15   1.35
11%            0.725     7%     0.03   0.23   0.43   0.63   0.83   1.03   1.23   1.43
12%            0.800     8%     0.10   0.30   0.50   0.70   0.90   1.10   1.30   1.50
13%            0.875     9%  0   0.18   0.38   0.58   0.78   0.98   1.18   1.38   1.58
14%            0.950     10%    0.05   0.25   0.45   0.65   0.85   1.05   1.25   1.45   1.65
15%            1.025    St.

Mary
11%    0.13   0.33   0.53   0.73   0.93   1.13   1.33   1.53   1.73

16%            1.100    TSR
(%)

12% 0   0.20   0.40   0.60   0.80   1.00   1.20   1.40   1.60   1.80

17%            1.200     13%   0.07   0.28   0.48   0.68   0.88   1.08   1.28   1.48   1.68   1.88
18%            1.300     14%   0.15   0.35   0.55   0.75   0.95   1.15   1.35   1.55   1.75   1.95
19%            1.400     15%   0.23   0.43   0.63   0.83   1.03   1.23   1.43   1.63   1.83   2.00
20%            1.500     16%   0.30   0.50   0.70   0.90   1.10   1.30   1.50   1.70   1.90  
21%            1.600     17%   0.40   0.60   0.80   1.00   1.20   1.40   1.60   1.80   2.00  
22%            1.700     18%   0.50   0.70   0.90   1.10   1.30   1.50   1.70   1.90   
23%            1.800     19%   0.60   0.80   1.00   1.20   1.40   1.60   1.80   2.00   
24%            1.900     20%   0.70   0.90   1.10   1.30   1.50   1.70   1.90    
25%            2.000     21%   0.80   1.00   1.20   1.40   1.60   1.80   2.00    

      22%   0.90   1.10   1.30   1.50   1.70   1.90     
      23%   1.00   1.20   1.40   1.60   1.80   2.00     
      24%   1.10   1.30   1.50   1.70   1.90      
      25%   1.20   1.40   1.60   1.80   2.00      
                 
        RED= MINIMUMS      
        BLUE = MAXIMUMS      
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EXHIBIT 10.6

ST. MARY LAND & EXPLORATION COMPANY

PERFORMANCE SHARE AND RESTRICTED STOCK UNIT AWARD NOTICE

 
[Date]1

[Name and Address]

Dear [Name]:

Pursuant to the St. Mary Land & Exploration Company long term incentive program (“LTIP”) under the St. Mary Land & Exploration Company Equity Incentive
Compensation Plan, as amended (the “Plan”), you have been awarded [Number] performance shares (the “Performance Shares”) and [Number] restricted stock units (the
“Units”).  The Performance Shares represent the right to receive, upon settlement of the Performance Shares after the completion of the Performance Period set forth below, a
number of shares of the Company’s common stock that will be calculated as set forth in the attached Performance Share and Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement (the
“Agreement”) based on the Company’s performance for the Performance Period and the extent to which the Performance Shares are vested.  That number of shares relating to
the Performance Shares may be from zero (0) to two (2.0) times the number of Performance Shares awarded.  Each Unit represents the right to receive one share of the
Company’s common stock to be delivered upon settlement of the vested Units as set forth in the Agreement.  The Performance Shares and the Units are subject to all of the terms
and conditions of the Plan and the Agreement, which are both incorporated herein in their entirety.
 

Awarded To: [Name]
Award Date: [Award Date]

  
PERFORMANCE SHARES:  

Number of Performance Shares: [Number]
Performance Period: The three-year period beginning on [Date], and ending on [Date]

PSA Vesting Schedule: The Performance Shares will vest as follows (provided that on such vesting date you are then employed by
the Company or a subsidiary):
1/7th (approximately 14.3%) on [Vesting Date]
2/7ths (approximately 28.6%) on [Vesting Date]

 
____________________________________
 
1 Items in brackets are features that may vary among individual awards.
 
 
 

 
 



 
 

 4/7ths (approximately 57.1%) on [Vesting Date]
In addition, the Performance Shares may become fully vested or be forfeited under certain circumstances
specified in the Agreement.

PSA Settlement Date: [Settlement Date]
  
UNITS:  

Number of Units: [Number]
RSU Vesting Schedule: The Units will vest as follows (provided that on such vesting date you are then employed by the Company

or a subsidiary):
1/7th (approximately 14.3%) on [Vesting Date]
2/7ths (approximately 28.6%) on [Vesting Date]
4/7ths (approximately 57.1%) on [Vesting Date]
In addition, the Units may become fully vested or be forfeited under certain circumstances specified in the
Agreement.

RSU Settlement Dates: For each vested portion of the Units, the RSU Settlement Date will be the same date as the vesting date.

*     *     *     *     *
 

[Signature page follows]

 
 
 



 

By your signature below, you hereby acknowledge receipt of the Performance Shares and Units awarded on the date shown above, which have been awarded to you
under the terms and conditions of the Plan and the attached Agreement.  You further acknowledge receipt either directly or electronically of a copy of the Plan, a prospectus for
the Plan, and the Agreement, and agree to conform to all of the terms and conditions of the Performance Shares, the Units, the Plan, and the Agreement.
 

Execution of a written instrument for purposes of this award may be evidenced by any appropriate form of electronic signature or affirmative email or other electronic
response attached to or logically associated with such written instrument, which is executed or adopted by a party with an indication of the intention by such party to execute or
adopt such instrument for purposes of execution thereof.
 
COMPANY:
 
ST. MARY LAND & EXPLORATION COMPANY,
a Delaware corporation
 

 
By:  _________________________________________
 
Printed Name:  ________________________________
 
Title:  _______________________________________
 
Date Signed:  _________________________________
 

 
PARTICIPANT:
 

 
Signature:  ____________________________________
 
Printed Name:  _________________________________
 
Date Signed:  __________________________________
 



EXHIBIT 31.1

CERTIFICATION

I, Anthony J. Best certify that:
 
1. I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of St. Mary Land & Exploration Company;
 
2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in

light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;
 
3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition,

results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
 
4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-

15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:
 
 (a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that

material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during
the period in which this report is being prepared;

 
 (b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to

provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles;

 
 (c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the

disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
 
 (d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter

(the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s
internal control over financial reporting; and

 

 
 
 



 

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors
and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

 
 (a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to

adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
 
 (b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over financial

reporting.
 

Date:  August 4, 2009
 

 
/s/ ANTHONY J. BEST
 
Anthony J. Best
 
President and Chief Executive Officer
 

 



EXHIBIT 31.2

CERTIFICATION

I, A. Wade Pursell certify that:

1. I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of St. Mary Land & Exploration Company;
 
2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in

light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;
 
3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition,

results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
 
4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-

15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:
 
 (a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that

material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during
the period in which this report is being prepared;

 
 (b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to

provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles;

 
 (c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the

disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
 
 (d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter

(the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s
internal control over financial reporting; and

 

 
 
 



 

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors
and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

 
 (a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to

adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
 
 (b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over financial

reporting.
 

Date:  August 4, 2009
 

 
/s/ A. WADE PURSELL
A. Wade Pursell
Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer



EXHIBIT 32.1
 

CERTIFICATION
 

PURSUANT TO
 

18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
 

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
 

SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
 
In connection with the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of St. Mary Land & Exploration Company (the “Company”) for the quarterly period ended June 30, 2009, as filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), Anthony J. Best, as President and Chief Executive Officer of the Company, and A. Wade Pursell, as
Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of the Company, each hereby certifies, pursuant to and solely for the purpose of 18 U.S.C. § 1350, as adopted pursuant to §
906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, to the best of his knowledge and belief, that:
 

(1)           The Report fully complies with the requirements of section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (15 U.S.C. 78m or 78o(d)); and
 

(2)           The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.
 

/s/ ANTHONY J. BEST
Anthony J. Best
President and Chief Executive Officer
August 4, 2009

/s/ A. WADE PURSELL
A. Wade Pursell
Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
August 4, 2009


